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In 2004, the company has continued 
to Think: through innovation in product 
design and brands Act: in delivering higher 
shareholder returns by achieving key 
outcomes and exploring new opportunities 
including exciting developments in China 
and Grow: by building on the business 
through acquisition of brands and organic 
growth in markets around the world.
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The Housewares International group has again 
delivered a solid performance for the 2004 
financial year. Group net profit before tax and 
specific items increased by 15.0% to $35.49m 
(2003 $30.86m). A restructure of the Homewares 
Division during the year incurred significant item 
costs of $1.45m. This restructure and the 
consequent one-off costs are an investment  
in future returns and resulted in an increase  
of 9.1% in net profit after tax and significant  
items to $22.86m (2003 $20.95m).

Your directors are particularly pleased that the 
profit result has been underpinned by operating 
cash flows of $20.00m consistent with our 
commitment to shareholders to generate positive 
cash flow.

The Electrical Division continues to deliver strong 
results, and has again demonstrated what an 
outstanding acquisition this business has been 
for the Group. We have continued to expand the 
Breville brand to North America, where we now 
have a presence in over 2,500 retail shop fronts. 
Breville profits have increased in all markets, 
particularly through Metro Marketing in the USA 
and the export base in Hong Kong.

The restructure of the Homewares Division has 
involved the creation of a new Design Centre 
and Showroom in Sydney. Also, following the 
restructure, our Shanghai sourcing office was 
opened in May 2004. Your directors expect 
these initiatives to deliver improved performance 
and increased returns for our shareholders.

The acquisition of the SABCO business was 
completed in September 2003 and we are 
pleased to report a successful integration into 
the Homewares Division has been completed. 
SABCO has traded to expectations for the first 
nine months under new ownership. Through the 
SABCO brand HWI has extended its product 
range into the kitchen and laundry. We are 
confident that this new business will contribute 
positively to future growth.

Our group strategy continues to focus on 
growing the business in Australia through both 
natural growth and acquisition opportunities.  
Our core market can then be leveraged through 
the continuing expansion of our innovative 
product offer into international markets.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my 
fellow directors, the senior management team 
and every one of our 593 employees for their part 
in continuing to successfully grow an Australian 
business in both a competitive domestic market 
and the international marketplace. 

As you may know I have announced my decision 
to retire from the board at the end of the 2004 
annual general meeting. As a director since 
March 2000, and subsequently chairman, I 
am very pleased that the faith demonstrated 
by our shareholders has been rewarded by a 
substantial increase in our market capitalisation 
over my period on the board and indeed since 
the company listed on the Australian Stock 
Exchange. While we have seen some recent 
challenges in a competitive environment the 
board’s commitment to our shareholders is 
reflected in our decision to provide a small 
increase in our dividend for this year.

It has been a pleasure to work with so many  
hard working and diligent colleagues in the 
service of the owners of the Company – our 
shareholders. I wish the company every  
success in future years.

Frank Jones 
Chairman

‘ The Electrical Division continues to deliver strong results, and 
has again demonstrated what an outstanding acquisition this 
business has been for the Group.’

 >  Our Shanghai sourcing office was opened  
in May 2004 

>  We are confident the SABCO acquisition will contribute 
positively to future growth

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

>  Despite the challenges the company delivered an 
increase in earnings

The 2004 year was a tough year for our business. A strongly 
appreciating Australian dollar drove down retail price points, 
encouraged retailers to pursue direct import programs, 
particularly at the price entry points and deflated offshore 
revenues. On the plus side, the appreciating dollar helped 
offset substantial increases in raw material costs, particularly 
stainless steel, and higher inbound freight rates.

Building Momentum

Despite such challenges and the completion of  
two major restructure initiatives; being the integration 
of SABCO and the complete restructure of the 
company’s Homewares Division, the company was 
able to deliver an increase in its earnings before tax 
and significant items. I therefore extend my gratitude 
to all staff who worked tirelessly to help deliver these 
improved earnings to our shareholders. 

Top line growth was subdued as a result of deflated 
retail price points, the company’s decision to limit its 
exposure to price entry point product categories and 
the less favourable translation of US$ denominated 
sales. The introduction of SABCO helped offset some 
of this decline.

Increased gross margin percentages reflect the exit  
of lower price point business, the improved profitability 
of Breville’s export business in Hong Kong and a 
tight control over supply chain costs. Operating cost 
increases generally relate to the introduction  
of SABCO. 

As foreshadowed to shareholders, the company 
incurred $1.45m in restructure costs, principally  
in redundancy and recruitment, to refocus the 
Homewares business from a “purchasing push”  
model to a “marketing pull” model. Retailers have 
supported the restructuring exercise, which will  
allow the company to strengthen its competitive 
position in the retail supply chain.
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EBIT*

·13%
NPAT*

·15%
EPS

·6%
DPS

·5%

Our Operations
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$millions except where indicated JUN 02 JUN 03 JUN 04

SALES 374.9 455.9 457.6 ✓

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAX AND AMORTISATION* 29.2 36.2 41.1 ✓

AMORTISATION 1.2 1.4 1.7

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAX* 28.0 34.8 39.4  ✓

NET INTEREST 3.0 4.0 3.9

NORMALISED NET PROFIT BEFORE TAX* 25.0 30.8 35.5  ✓

SPECIFIC ITEMS 0.0 0.0 1.5

NET PROFIT BEFORE TAX 25.0 30.8 34.0  ✓

TAX 8.6 9.9 11.1

NET PROFIT AFTER TAX 16.4 20.9 22.9  ✓

Cents per share

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS) 17.7 18.6 19.7  ✓

DILUTED EPS 17.3 18.4 19.2  ✓

DIVIDEND PER SHARE 8.0 10.0 10.5  ✓

✓Record results for Housewares International Limited  * Normalised for specific items

Housewares International is an Australian-based company that owns 
and manages leading consumer brands and applies innovation 
and technology to maintain and grow margins. It has both new and 
historic long-term relationships with icon retailers and is growing its 
market share in key markets around the world. 

At a glance

Our Performance
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

* Normalised for specific items
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MARKET SECTOR OUR MAJOR BRANDS PERFORMANCE IN 2004 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

Cleaning >  The cleaning division was 
successfully incorporated 
into HWI operations in 2003. 
Product rationalisation and 
repositioning has revitalised  
the current offer 

> Launch of our in-house 
merchandisers has had an 
immediate impact

> Strengthening the cleaning 
brand portfolio to meet the 
needs of various market 
segments

> Increased focus on 
supermarket and hardware 
opportunities

Our Markets

Kitchenware > Strong performance in 
cookware and coffeeware 
categories

> Increased concentration on 
development and merchandise 
management

> Further developing the product 
mix to meet market needs will 
continue to be a focus

> Securing and developing 
manufacturing and retailer 
partnerships

Agency > Philips, the largest agency 
business, delivered strong 
growth in all categories in 2004

> Consolidation of existing 
relationships with international 
Homewares principals, and 
promising new opportunities

> Plans to expand the Philips 
range with the introduction  
of a series of new products 
during 2005

> Further supplementing 
the product offer through 
integration of Homewares 
agency brands into HWI 
operations

Electrical

Tabletop

> HWI Electrical multi faceted 
branding offer adapted well to 
changing market conditions

>  All brands have performed well 
although at entry price point 
Ronson/Kambrook have felt 
the effects of Direct Import 
Programmes

> A commitment to a design  
and innovation program

> Delivery of the 800 Series 
products for Christmas 2004

>  HWI Tabletop division 
successfully launched the alex 
liddy brand into the market in 
2003

> Mayfair & Jackson and Forum 
brands were refreshed

> Creating innovative, 
differentiated product utilising 
specialised industrial design 
resources

> Further developing the tabletop 
portfolio to build brand equity
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The net result for the 2004 year is a 15.0% increase in earnings 
before tax and significant items, from $30.86m to $35.49m.  
The net profit attributable to shareholders, after the inclusion  
of significant items and a higher tax charge (which results from  
a reweighting towards offshore earnings), has increased by  
9.1% from $20.95m to $22.86m.

Net debt at financial year end was $63.22m, which represents  
a debt to capital employed ratio of 28.5%, well within the 
company’s 40% guideline. The increase in net debt reflects the 
additional borrowings taken on to fund the SABCO acquisition. 

Increased capital expenditure relates to tooling costs in new 
products in the Breville range and the construction of the 
Homewares Division Design Centre and showroom in  
Botany, Sydney.

Operating cash flows at $20.00m reflects the company’s 
commitment to deliver free cash flow to shareholders. The 
operating cash flow is down on last year as a result of increased 
receivables to fund extended credit to retailers for heating 
purchases, increased inventories in the USA as the Breville  
project starts to deliver positive sales results and an increase  
in income taxes paid. 

The final dividend, at 3.5 cents per share, brings the full year  
pay-out to 10.5 cents per share, fully franked, which represents  
a pay-out ratio of 52% of earnings after tax, adjusted for the after 
tax effect of significant items. 

Review of operations

The Electrical Division delivered another strong result for the 
group. Despite defending deflated retail price points and 
increased competition from direct import programs at the price 
entry level, the Division delivered a favourable profit result despite 
a flat sales number. Export revenues from the company’s Hong 
Kong business continue to make a strong contribution towards 
group profits. 

The drive towards innovation and international product 
development continues and this season’s new products from  
the Design Centre are world-class and will be sold into the 
international market.

The Homewares Division struggled during 2004 as it fought off 
competition at the lower retail price points and restructured its 
business model towards a marketing driven model. Retailers have 
responded positively towards the restructure and profitability is 
expected to improve with early encouraging signs. The company 
has almost exited its expensive Rydalmere facility and efforts are 
being made to find a substitute tenant for the site. The SABCO 
acquisition has been successfully integrated into the Homewares 
Division and is delivering results to plan. The working capital 
investment for SABCO has been increased to provide sufficient 
inventory to support an aggressive spring sales event, which has 
been well received by retailers. SABCO is expected to continue 
to deliver increased earnings to the group. Offshore sales export 
opportunities of homewares product are starting to deliver positive 
results with repeat orders being received from various customers. 

Metro Marketing (USA) has delivered a strong result in US$ 
terms, with net profit after tax up 25% on the previous year. 
The homewares side of the business suffered from the same 
competitive pressures as in Australia, fending off deflated price 
points and increased competition from direct import programs. 
However, focused cost and supply chain management and an 
improved contribution from Breville helped deliver the positive 
profit result. The improvement was lost however in Australian  
dollar terms due to the results being translated using a higher 
conversion rate.

Our Canadian partnership continues to gain positive momentum 
as product integration opportunities, for both homewares and 
small electrical appliances, are successfully converted into retail 
sales offerings. 

The homewares division is benefiting from a stronger kitchenware 
offering, which is being delivered in partnership with Australian 
product development resources by leveraging international design 
and procurement capabilities.

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REVIEW CONTINUED

‘ The Breville project has made significant progress in the  
USA with key products being listed with a range of high profile  
retail customers.’ 

 >  Debt to capital ratio of 28.5% is well within the 
company’s 40% guideline

>  Retailers have responded positively towards the 
restructure of the Homewares Division
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>  We have built a solid business foundation and are 
looking to continue to grow shareholder value

The “all important” Breville project continues to excel with 
increased product and distribution opportunities being delivered 
ahead of schedule. Canadian retailers have reacted positively  
to the innovative product offering and most key retailers are now 
carrying a component or multiple components of the Breville 
product. Future growth prospects for this initiative continue to  
be positive.

The Breville project has made significant progress in the USA 
with key products being listed with a range of high profile retail 
customers. Sales continue to be supported through innovative 
product design and a focused marketing campaign. 

In conclusion, despite the challenges, we were able to deliver  
a credible result to our shareholders. We have built a solid 
business foundation and are looking forward to continue to grow 
shareholder value through various profit growth initiatives.

It’s quite amazing to understand just how many “brown boxes” we 
move around the world to achieve group turnover of $457.6m and 
profit after tax of $22.9m. These results are delivered through the 
dedicated commitment of our managers and staff around the world. 
For this I am grateful and recognise their outstanding contribution. 

Mark Kirkby  
Managing Director



Think:
Innovation in product design provides us with a 
clear competitive advantage over our competitors. 
By designing our own products we are able to  
offer a point of difference to our retail customers.

8



>  Our investment in technology facilitates efficient 
delivery of products to markets

>  Our design team provides packaging and selling 
materials to our retail customers

>  The Alex Liddy Chunky Melamine product range won 
prestigious design awards

9

Investment in 
technology
Working on state-of-the-art 3D computer 
modelling systems, our industrial designers 
can quickly convert inspirational ideas into 
virtual representations on the computer 
screen. Our graphic designers can 
expertly overlay colours, patterns, textures 
and decals to complete a truly engaging 
sensorial experience. 

Once the development team has reviewed 
the new designs and weighed them 
against marketing, manufacturing, financial 
and customer criteria, prototypes are made 
at our in-house facility to help refine and 
then communicate the subtleties of the 
designs to our newly established Shanghai 
procurement office. 

Our design centre 
in Sydney delivers 
innovation across all 
product categories
HWI have established design centres in 
Sydney to develop innovative product 
across the Electrical, Homewares and 
Cleaning categories. Product developed 
by internal resources is now available to 
our businesses internationally. Innovation 
allows HWI to lead the international 
market place from both a functionality  
and trend perspective. The presence  
of our strong design teams also enables 
the production of packaging and selling 
materials to provide our retailers with crucial 
merchandising support. The creative 
resources in Sydney, paired with local 
professional marketing support in all our 
key markets, provide formidable teams able 
to enhance and drive HWI brands globally. 

Design Awards
The HWI Homewares division won 
both the Australian Design Mark and 
Design Award in 2004 for the Alex Liddy 
Chunky Melamine Product Range. The 
same items were also selected by the 
Powerhouse Museum in Sydney for the 
Powerhouse Award 2004.

These award winning products are 
a result of the efforts of a tightly knit, 
focused team of product development 
professionals located in the company’s 
new Botany studio in Sydney’s South.

Inspiration is gathered on frequent 
excursions to the world’s fashion and 
trend hotspots such as London, Milan, 
Hong Kong and of course incorporating 
our own Australian influences. These 
insights are combined with keen strategic 
vision to form the basis of a ‘design brief’ 
to the in-house graphic and industrial 
designers.

Adding value 
through design
Getting the right product to market in the 
minimum time remains the focus of the 
Botany Homewares team. The cultivation 
of a rapid design and development 
mindset coupled with strong links to our 
manufacturers and overseas partners 
means that we are continually refining our 
processes. Our resident design facilities 
allows us to support our manufactured 
products with internally created packaging 
and sales and marketing material such  
as point-of-sale posters, catalogues,  
and sales kits. The management of  
these aspects ensures a coherent and 
reassuringly consistent brand message  
is provided to our customers.

Australian Design Award
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Industrial design:  
the process
Our unique approach to design and 
development is driven by multidisciplinary 
project teams working together from 
concept through to launch. Innovative 
ideas are brought to reality through 
rigorous detailing, prototyping and testing. 
This process is repeated over and over 
until the design is second to none. The 
result must be world-class products that 
are desirable and a pleasure to own.

with design innovations to make  
easy-to-use products accessible to  
a domestic environment. 

Enter the popular Breville Health Grills; 
Breville Electric Woks; the Breville 
Sandwich Press Series and the Award 
Winning Breville Juice Fountain – a 
product that made juicing so effortless 
there was no longer an excuse not to 
maintain a healthy intake of fruit and 
vegetables!

A culture of innovation and speed to 
market will ensure the continued success 
of this Australian icon brand.

After just over 70 years of boundless 
evolution, Breville has become a 
household name and continues to deliver 
better ideas for Australian lifestyles 
generation after generation. Since the 
1930’s, Breville has produced some of the 
most successful appliances in the history 
of our country.

A history of innovation:

Breville prospered from day one – the 
1930’s being boom years for radio. 
Breville produced more than 200 radios  
a week and still struggled to supply 
enough to satisfy public demand.

The shift to small appliances was made 
in the 1940’s when the emergence 
of television internationally compelled 
management to shift the company focus 
to small appliances. During this period of 
high consumer awareness and demand 
for the very latest appliances, Breville 
cemented it’s place in the market by 
staying ahead of the race for delivering  
the latest innovations year after year.

In 1974 the unforgettable Breville  
Snack ‘n Sandwich Maker became the 
most successful home appliance ever  
to be launched in the history of this 
country and with this, Breville truly  
became a household name.

Into the 90’s and a new Millennium –  
the explosion of Café Culture in Australia 
drove consumer demand to ‘bring the 
café experience home’ and growing 
consumer concerns about healthy living, 
nutrition and fitness inspired Breville  
to pioneer a new generation of designs 
to enhance contemporary lifestyles. 
These would combine the desired sleek 
commercial styling and performance  

concept 3D rendering prototype

> >

Think: innovation delivers results

History of innovation at Breville
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tooling manufacturing distribution

Sabco point of sale
SABCO is committed to providing retailers 
with a point of difference. This is achieved 
through efficiencies in point of sale activities 
or by developing other materials to support 
the SABCO offering. 

SABCO are market leaders with new 
product displays, including off-location 
displays, which are outside the traditional 
‘plan-o-gram’ format. Core range products 
like brooms, mops, and buckets are now 
being presented in display bins, while 
new innovative products like ‘Onewipe’ 
are now being offered on display stands.

Cut-case cartons and clip strips provide 
alternative opportunities for product 
display. Cut-case cartons offer retailers 
efficiencies as the time taken to unpack 
and display products on shelves is 
minimised; and clip strips are versatile for 
displaying SABCO products with other 
complementary products from other 
categories.

These point-of-sale initiatives offer exciting 
opportunities for our retail partners to 
optimise the utilisation of crucial retail  
real-estate and deliver better dollar per 
square metre returns.

The Sabco brand 
has been extended 
with product 
innovation
Product Innovation

SABCO products provide cleaning and 
storage solutions for consumers, with 
an increased focus on dynamic product 
innovation. 

Continuous market research identifies 
new growth trends and opportunities in 
the market. The SABCO team then uses 
the latest in design resources and leading 
edge technology to develop new and 
innovative products. Recent additions 
to SABCO’s range have included the 
‘Clean and Flush’, the ‘Lifestyle Brushware 
Collection’, and the ‘Top Mop’.

end product

> > > >

Clean & Flush

SABCO Clean and Flush is the toilet 
brush you simply flush!

‘Clean and Flush’ is a revolutionary, 
new, patented, toilet cleaning system 
that is 100% biodegradable, sanitary, 
convenient and contains no phosphate.

Lifestyle Brushware Collection

Featuring our unique DuraClear comfort 
handles and contemporary styling, the 
SABCO Lifestyle Brushware Collection 
is made to clean and is available in two 
colours.

Top Mop

SABCO Top Mop is the next generation 
in mops. This superior microfibre mop 
removes dirt and dust and can hold up 
to several times its own weight in dirt 
and dust. Top Mop can be used wet or 
dry for mopping or dusting and leaves 
no streaks when cleaning. Top Mop is 
environmentally friendly, as it requires 
no chemicals, and provides amazing 
cleaning results!



Act:
We have been proactive in meeting market 
challenges and building our business base  
to support future growth through a number  
of important business initiatives.

12
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>  The inventory and credit management team remain 
focused, accountable and effective

>  HWI Shanghai is a critical component to the 
international importing business

>  We have been able to introduce Alex Liddy, Breville 
and Forum into Canada

Shanghai
The world is changing and as one door 
closes, another opens. The homewares 
industry has recently experienced a trend 
towards large retailers initiating their own 
direct importing programs to bring product 
direct to market. Such programs replace a 
portion of the lower-end HWI homewares 
offering. In response to this market change, 
HWI have introduced a new team, based 
in Shanghai, who are ‘on the ground’ and 
able to assist retailers with their direct 
import programs. HWI Shanghai has the 
capability to source product, negotiate 
attractive prices and manage the supply 
chain for the retailers’ programs.

HWI Shanghai is also critical to the 
international importing businesses, offering 
sourcing capabilities, further developing 
strategic relationships with manufacturers, 
checking product quality and enhancing 
the HWI supply chain process. The 
Shanghai personnel are well-qualified  
and enthusiastic about joining the HWI 
global team.

Hong Kong Delivers 
Strong Export Growth
Our Hong Kong operations are known 
internally as the quiet achievers. Each year, 
HWI International (Hong Kong) is able to 
produce incremental growth in sales and 
profits. The Hong Kong team are the 
caretakers of the international Electrical 
product sourcing and quality control 
functions. Importantly, Hong Kong also 
supply export product to over twenty 
countries where HWI is not represented 
internationally. The Breville Juicer, for 
example, can be found in the UK, 
Switzerland, South Africa, and Germany.  
As future innovative products emerge  
from Sydney’s design centre, export  
sales from Hong Kong will continue to 
produce strong growth.

Canada Continues 
Product Integration
On the other side of the globe, the 
seasons may be the reverse of Australia, 
but the taste in homewares and electrical 
product is very similar. We have been  
able to introduce the Alex Liddy, Breville 
and Forum brands into the Canadian 
market with minimal changes to the 
product. The voltage for electrical 
products is one difference, and the 
translation of packaging and instructions 
into French has been required. HWI  
are now producing packaging and 
instructions in three languages, Spanish 
for the USA, French for Canada and, of 
course, English. The Canadian market  
has responded with enthusiasm to the 
Australian designed product lines. The 
global take-up of Australian designed 
product allows us to leverage off the 
investment in the Sydney design centres.

Focused Working 
Capital Management
We believe that strong and effective 
working capital management is crucial  
to the delivery of improving returns to 
shareholders. As a wholesaling company, 
we need to hold inventories and carry 
receivables to service our retailers 
effectively. The HWI inventory and credit 
management teams are focused, 
accountable and effective.

Long term shareholders will be aware  
that the December working capital 
requirements have always been 
significantly higher than June, due to  
the level of receivables relating to our 
Christmas selling period. Traditionally,  
our main selling periods and working 
capital requirements have revolved around 
Mothers Day, Christmas and Thanksgiving 
(USA). The SABCO range has introduced  
a new cyclical peak – Spring Cleaning!  
We now have a June seasonal peak 
relating to the SABCO Spring Cleaning 
promotions which, this year, have  
added around $8m to inventories and  
$4m to receivables at the reporting date. 
Strategically, where the turnover and profits 
demand it, HWI will invest the working 
capital to reap the financial reward.
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 >  We now offer full merchandising support to key clients 
supplying a crucial service to our valued customers

 >  The Homewares division was restructured in an  
effort to reposition and strengthen its position in  
the supply chain

Act: a year of accomplishments
HWI Retail Services
Our ability to service our retail client base 
has been enhanced with the introduction 
of the HWI retail merchandising service. 
Starting with the SABCO client base, we 
now offer full merchandising support to 
key clients, supplying a crucial service 
to our valued customers. Our team of 
seventy part-time merchandisers are able 
to offer personalised service to the retail 
outlets in all geographic areas, ensuring 
that the SABCO product range is well 
maintained and represented at store level. 
The team are also able to provide valuable 
market feed-back to the management 
team in relation to trends, opportunities, 
and competition in the market-place. 
We look forward to expanding the 
merchandising service to other product 
categories and key retailers in the very 
near future.

SABCO business 
now fully integrated
The integration of the SABCO business 
has been achieved within its budget and 
targeted timeline. The establishment of 
outsourced manufacturing capabilities, 
inventory planning and vendor 
management remain a priority in 
extracting maximum efficiency from 
the product supply chain. As part of 
this process, external merchandising 
support was replaced with internal 
resources, offering  
a significantly upgraded 
service, to our retail 
customers, at the 
same price point. 

Homewares  
division restructured
The Homewares division was restructured 
in an effort to reposition and strengthen its 
position in the supply chain. Retailers are 
looking for a full retail solution in terms of 
product offering, packaging and in-store 
display and support, and our refocused 
business model will meet this need.  
As part of the restructure, we have 
employed marketing focused resources,  
a first rate team in Botany to provide 
design and development support, 
upgraded IT support and CAD machines 
and opened a sourcing and QA office  
in Shanghai.

Customer relations 
strengthened
The Homewares division has upgraded 
regional sales management structures 
and built support for the national sales 
function. The motivation shown by sales 
staff to strengthen relations across our 
retail customer base is second to none.
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>  At Breville the display booth at this year’s Chicago fair 
was a hit among retailers and interest in new product 
offerings is promising

>  The integration of the SABCO business has been 
achieved within budget and targeted timeline

>  Design resources and capabilities are being continually 
upgraded to ensure that world-class innovative product is 
available for distribution across our international business base

International success 
for Electrical Division
Our Electrical division continues 
to capitalise on international sales 
opportunities for product developed in 
the company’s Design Centre. Design 
resources and capabilities are being 
continually upgraded to ensure that 
world-class innovative product is available 
for distribution across our international 
business base. The success of this 
strategy is evident in the financial results  
in Hong Kong.

NZ Operations 
gathering speed
The New Zealand business is back 
on track with improved earnings and 
market support for its electrical and 
homewares products. After a tentative 
start, the homewares products are gaining 
momentum with local retailers, and the 
New Zealand team are anticipating a 
successful year ahead.

Breville gets traction 
in North America
The Breville project in North America 
continues to gain momentum. The display 
booth at this year’s Chicago fair was a 
hit among retailers and interest in new 
product offerings is promising. We now 
have a number of permanent listings 
with key retailers and the momentum 
behind the project is being driven by the 
innovative product being delivered from 
Sydney’s Design Centre.

Innovation creates 
new opportunities
The company remains committed towards 
innovation in its product and retail support. 
Innovation is driven with the world platform 
in view and export sales opportunities are 
being converted for both homeware and 
electrical products, thereby validating our 
international credentials around product 
development. 

Australian design resources provide 
innovative product and marketing 
support to our businesses globally.

HWI Business Model

Homewares
Marketing & Design

Electrical
Marketing & Design

Brand & Product 
Development

Hong Kong/China
Procurement base 

QC & Shipping

Australia

New Zealand

USA

Canada

Other 
Offshore 
Markets

Sales,  
Sales Support 

& Logistics

R&D/Design Funding

Design Funding

Design Excellence 
(Sydney, Australia)

Innovation 
& Lifestyle

Export Sales

Competitive  
Procurement



Grow:
We continue to look for growth opportunities by 
capitalising on our broad business base, in terms  
of product offering and geographical location.
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Retail partners
We recognise the importance of  
delivering excellence and innovation 
through our product development 
facilities. The investment in the Botany 
design centres, for both Homewares  
and Electrical, offers us the opportunity  
to work more strategically with our 
customer base. We now have the 
capability to develop exclusive ranges 
of product for retailers looking for a 
competitive point of difference. Given  
the growth in global competition, and  
the increased accessibility of the markets 
in China, our ability to deliver innovative 
and differentiated product will strengthen 
and grow our position in the supply chain.

Marketing
The HWI marketing and customer service 
teams are critical to our ongoing success. 
We believe that brand integrity and quality 
are crucial elements in delivering core 
organic growth through increased market 
share. The HWI culture encourages 
investment in marketing and service 
capabilities and we are rolling out our 
brand strategy globally. Our headline 
brands are gaining support internationally 
and we look forward to increasing brand 
recognition and brand loyalty in our key 
international markets in the near future.
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Growing agency 
partnerships
HWI has enjoyed strong strategic alliances 
with well recognised international brands 
for many years. Successful partnerships 
with brands such as Philips, Peg Perego, 
Soehnle, Spacebags, Bormioli, and  
JG Durand have been developed over 
a long period of time, and each agency 
relationship represents very important 
business opportunities. The HWI 
strategy is to identify and form strategic 
relationships with owners of reputable 
international brands desiring distribution in 
the Australian market. Each agency offers 
product ranges that complement the own-
brand ranges offered by HWI.

We are continually exploring opportunities 
with global brand owners, and actively 
seek to expand our agency ranges 
in appropriate and mutually profitable 
categories. 

>  We now have the capability to develop exclusive 
ranges of products for retailers

>  The strategy is to identify and form strategic 
relationships with owners of reputable  
international brands

>  We are rolling out our brand strategy globally
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World-class products 
breed success
The capacity of the Breville Design 
department will be significantly upgraded 
to facilitate the growth expected from our 
North American and export businesses. 
We will launch a range of Breville 800 
Premium Class products into international 
markets during the 2005 financial year. 
These products are world-class and are 
testament to the design and engineering 
talent that resides in the Design Centre. 
Design capabilities for homewares have 

USA business 
continues to grow
The USA still represents a key opportunity 
for growth in both the homeware and 
electrical product ranges. The Breville 
project is now into its second year and we 
will seek to add innovative product to the 
range to be able to capitalise on the 
sizeable customer base that has been 
established. Incremental profits continue 
to be re-invested back into marketing 
support and the strategy remains 
conservative. We have revitalized the 
homeware sales team and are looking to 
drive product growth without compromising 
on the strong operating and financial 
controls evident in the USA business.

also been upgraded and the influence of 
Breville success in this area is evident in 
the innovative offerings being put forward 
to homewares retailers.

Innovation 
strengthens our 
market position
The restructure of our homewares division 
will allow the company to strengthen and 
grow its position in the supply chain. 
Innovative offerings are being put forward 
to counter the threat of direct imports 
and are showing signs of success. We 
would expect this business unit to deliver 
an improved operating result during this 
financial year. The innovative offering is 
also being taken to New Zealand and the 
USA to stimulate business opportunities in 
those markets.

 > We are looking to grow the SABCO product offerings  >  The USA business continues to grow with Breville into 
its second year

Grow: opportunities for 
profitable growth
SABCO acquisition 
expands our range
The SABCO acquisition is expected to 
deliver additional growth to our company 
as we re-establish core ranges previously 
neglected and look to grow the product 
offering into associated product ranges. 
Once the local business gains momentum 
and critical mass, we will then review 
opportunities to extend the offering offshore. 

‘Juiceville’ Chicago Fair 2004
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Alert for opportunities
We are always on the look out for new 
business opportunities that fall within our 
area of expertise and complement our 
current business activities. One of the 
core competencies of the HWI team is the 
ability to develop products that enhance 
consumers’ lifestyles in the domestic 
environment. Although we have grown 
our business significantly, there are still 
many opportunities to supply product for 
use in the home. We will actively pursue 
these opportunities, through acquisition, 
international licensing relationships or 
by expanding our stable of brands, to 
capitalise on the strengths of our retail 
relationships and our expertise in the 
market-place.

Premium products 
are great news for 
exports
We have focused additional resources 
towards the Hong Kong business unit to 
actively seek new export opportunities. 
The new Breville 800 series represents 
a flagship opportunity to broaden the 
international business base and attract 
new customers. Breville product is now 
being sold in over 20 countries around  
the world.

The commitment to 
R&D continues
The development of new products to 
meet changing market needs is seen as 
a critical factor to sustain future growth for 
HWI. We recognise that the success of 

Future growth opportunities

Current markets

Sustainable growth, 
incremental value
We are focused on delivering sustainable 
growth in earnings to our shareholders, 
but will always evaluate opportunities 
against a conservative business case 
to ensure that opportunities deliver 
incremental value to our shareholders. 

>  We are focused on delivering sustainable growth in 
earnings to our shareholders

>  The homewares restructure will allow us to strengthen 
and grow our position in the supply chain

>  The new Breville 800 series represent allows a flagship 
opportunity to broaden the international business

our products worldwide has been based 
on our ability to design and develop 
unique and innovative products that meet 
the expectations of our customers. 

Throughout 2004 HWI has focused on 
improving its new product development 
capabilities to ensure that the increasing 
numbers of innovative new products that 
we introduce into the market each year 
are successful. Funding of our research 
and development activity has again been 
increased to support this programme. The 
results of this increased activity are shortly 
to be seen with the market introduction 
of a range of new products scheduled for 
the second half of 2004 and early 2005.

HWI will continue to leverage the unique 
intellectual value developed through 
our ongoing research and development 
activities. 
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Board of Directors
John McConnell
Non-Executive Director  
B.Comm, FAICD, FAIM, FAIBF 

John McConnell has had over 35 
years experience in banking and 
finance with ANZ Banking Group 
in Australia, New Zealand, and 
the United Kingdom and has held 
various board positions within that 
Group. Other current directorships 
include Equity Trustees Limited. 
Mr McConnell is chairman of the 
audit and compliance committee 
and a member of the remuneration 
committee.

Peter Morgan
Non-Executive Director,  
FAICD, FAIM

Peter Morgan has had over 38 years 
extensive retail and merchandise 
experience with Coles Myer 
Ltd, holding numerous senior 
management roles, including being 
an executive director. Mr Morgan is 
a current director of SPC Ardmona 
Limited, and has held former roles 
as a director of Ardmona Foods 
Limited and chairman of the ‘Textile 
Clothing Footwear & Leather 
Forum’. Mr Morgan is chairman of 
the remuneration committee and a 
member of the audit and compliance 
committee.

Frank Jones
Non-Executive Chairman  
FCA, CPA, ACIS

Frank Jones is a Chartered 
Accountant and was a senior 
partner in the accounting firm 
of Horwarth Melbourne until his 
retirement in 1995. Mr Jones 
has extensive experience as a 
tax, financial and general advisor 
to some of Australia’s leading 
manufacturing, importing, retailing, 
and shopping centre development 
companies. He is a member of the 
audit and compliance committee 
and a member of the remuneration 
committee. Mr Jones is a director  
of Premier Investments Ltd.

Joseph HerschMark KirkbyJohn McConnell Peter Morgan Frank Jones Steven Klein
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Mark Kirkby
Managing Director  
B.Acc, CASA

Mark Kirkby is the group managing 
director and is responsible for group 
operations, including business 
strategy and acquisitions. Mr 
Kirkby also oversees corporate 
finance matters and supervises the 
company’s offshore business units. 
Mr Kirkby has extensive financial and 
general management experience, 
including holding senior roles in 
South Africa, Italy, and France, 
before immigrating to Australia. 

Joseph Hersch
Executive Director  
CASA

Joseph Hersch is an executive 
director responsible for all 
management aspects of the HWI 
Electrical division. Mr Hersch has 
over twenty years experience  
in the consumer products industry  
in Australia. 

Steven Klein
Non-Executive Director  
LLB, B.Comm

Steven Klein has had extensive 
legal experience in mergers and 
acquisitions, capital raisings, and 
public company takeovers. Mr Klein 
has been a partner of Arnold Bloch 
Leibler since 1996. Mr Klein is a 
member of the audit and compliance 
committee and a member of the 
remuneration committee.
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Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2004

The board of directors of Housewares International Limited has 
pleasure in submitting its report in respect of the financial year 
ended 30 June 2004.

Directors

The names of the company’s directors in office during the 
financial year and until the date of this report are as follows. 
Directors were in office for this entire period unless indicated 
otherwise.

Frank Jones Non-executive chairman

John McConnell Non-executive director

Peter Morgan Non-executive director

Steven Klein Non-executive director (Appointed 26 September 2003)

Mark Kirkby Managing director

Joseph Hersch Executive director

Clive Little Non-executive chairman (Retired 25 September 2003)

Phillip Ramsay Executive director (Resigned 26 September 2003)

Company Secretary
The name of the company secretary in office during or since the 
end of the financial year is Laurelle Jackson.

Principal Activities
The principal activities during the financial year of the 
consolidated entity were the importation, distribution and 
marketing of homewares and small electrical appliances in  
the consumer products industry in Australia, United States  
of America, Canada, New Zealand, and Hong Kong.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
On 26 September 2003, the consolidated entity completed its 
acquisition of the SABCO brand and business. There were no 
other significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity that occurred during the financial year that 
have not otherwise been disclosed in this report or the 
consolidated financial statements.

Review of Results and Operations ($’000)
Sales growth was subdued as a result of deflated retail price 
points, the company’s decision to limit its exposure to price 
entry point and direct import product categories and the less 
favourable translation of US$ denominated sales. The 
introduction of SABCO helped offset some of this decline. Sales 
revenues of the consolidated entity for the year to 30 June 2004 
were $457,616 which is 0.4% greater than the consolidated 
sales for the previous corresponding period.

The consolidated profit before tax and specific items for the 
financial year to 30 June 2004 was $35,489 up 15.0% on the 
previous corresponding period result of $30,861. The net profit 
attributable to shareholders, after the inclusion of specific items 
relating to the Homewares division restructure, has increased by 
9.1% from $20,945 to $22,858.

Increased capital expenditure relates to tooling costs in Breville 
and the construction of the Homewares division’s Design Centre 
and showroom in Botany.

The consolidated earning per share increased from 18.55 cents 
to 19.70 cents, consequently the board has declared a final fully 
franked dividend of 3.5 cents per share (2003: 4.0 cents), which 
brings the full year pay-out to 10.5 cents per share (2003: 10.0 
cents per share). This represents a pay-out ratio of 52% of 
earnings after tax, adjusted for the after tax effect of specific 
items.

Dividends

The following dividends have been paid, declared or 
recommended since the end of the preceding financial year. 
The payment of dividends is subject to shareholder participation 
in the dividend reinvestment plan.

 Cents per 
  ordinary share $’000

Final dividends recommended: 3.5 4,106

Dividends paid in the year:

Interim dividend paid 7.0 8,158

Previous year final dividend paid 4.0 4,573

Significant Events after Year End
Subsequent to 30 June 2004, the directors have declared a fully-
franked final dividend of 3.5 cents per share (2003: 4.0 cents per 
share). In accordance with the group’s accounting policy no 
liability is recognised at 30 June 2004.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of 
the year, which significantly affected or may affect the operations 
of the consolidated entity.

Likely Developments and Expected Results
Disclosure of information as to likely developments in the 
operations of the consolidated entity and expected results of 
those operations would be prejudicial to the interests of the 
consolidated entity. Accordingly, such information has not been 
included in this report.

Environmental Regulations
The consolidated entity is not involved in any activities that have 
a marked influence on the environment within its area of 
operation.

Directors’ Interests
As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the 
shares, options, or other instruments of Housewares International 
Ltd were:
 Ordinary Shares Options

J McConnell 57,923 –

P Morgan 111,106 –

F Jones 68,111 –

S Klein 96,487 –

M Kirkby 344,253 166,666

J Hersch 1,893,292 416,666

C Little (retired 25 September 2003) n/a n/a

P Ramsay (resigned 26 September 2003) n/a n/a

Directors and Other Officers Emoluments

Remuneration Policy
Remuneration of directors and senior executives of the company 
is established by the remuneration committee. Remuneration is 
determined as part of an annual performance review, which 
includes performance evaluation with regard to comparable 
remuneration and independent advice. For executive directors 
and officers, remuneration packages generally comprise a 
salary, a motor vehicle and superannuation. Some executives 
are also provided with longer-term incentives through the senior 
executive option plan, which acts to align the executives’ actions 
with the interests of shareholders. Some executives are also 
entitled to performance-based bonuses. Non-executive 
directors are not entitled to performance based bonuses, 
options, or retirement benefits.
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Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emolument of each director of the company and each of the five executive 
officers of the company and the consolidated entity receiving the highest emolument for the financial year are as follows:

  Termination & 
  similar payments 
 Annual & accrued 
 Emoluments  entitlements Long Term Emoluments

   Options Granted

     Number Amortised  % of  Super- 
 Base Fee Bonus Other  granted cost  total annuation 
 $ $ $ $  $ Note remuneration $

Emoluments of directors of  
Housewares International Ltd
F Jones 71,250 – – – – –   6,413

J McConnell 48,750 – – – – –   4,388

P Morgan 48,750 – – – – –   4,388

M Kirkby 405,652 – 14,409 – – 7,164 (a) 1.4% 68,348

J Hersch 352,356 – 40,568 – – 54,334 (b) 10.9% 52,853

S Klein ^ (appointed 26 September 2003) 36,787 – – – – –   –

C Little (retired 25 September 2003) 20,000 – – – – –   1,800

P Ramsay (resigned 26 September 2003) 131,016 – 11,102 645,619 – –   19,652

Emoluments of the five most highly  
remunerated executive officers#  
of the company and the  
consolidated entity.
D Kin 230,444 – 25,295 – – –   9,218

B Liu 204,997 86,768 26,425 – – –   8,200

V Cheung 382,508 73,043 15,559 – – 9,476 (c) 1.9% 31,192

P Milburn 160,681 – 45,816 – – 9,476 (c) 4.1% 14,460

S Rosenzweig 77,454 – 7,699 318,932 – –   1,430

Notes
* Options granted as part of remuneration have been valued either using the Binomial or Black Scholes pricing models, which take account of 

factors such as the option exercise price, the current level and volatility of the underlying share price, and the time to maturity of the option. The 
valuations are then allocated over the vesting period of the options. Each option entitles the holder to purchase 1 ordinary share in Housewares 
International Limited. Details of the terms and conditions of the options are set out in note 29.

# Executives are those directly accountable and responsible for the operational management and strategic direction of the company and the 
consolidated entity.

^ Mr Klein’s fees are paid to Arnold Bloch Leibler, a firm of which he is a partner. Accordingly these fees are subject to GST. The amounts shown 
above are net of GST.

(a) 500,000 options were granted on 6 December 2001. A Black Scholes valuation has assessed an indicative value of the options at the date of 
issue as being $38,950 (7.79 cents per option). The current financial year allocation of the valuation is $7,164.

(b) 500,000 options were granted on 6 December 2001. A Black Scholes valuation has assessed an indicative value of the options at the date of 
issue as being $37,550 (7.51 cents per option). The current financial year allocation of the valuation is $6,906.

 250,000 options were granted on 13 June 2003. A Binomial valuation has assessed an indicative value of the options at the date of issue as being 
$84,165 (33.67 cents per option). The current financial year allocation of the valuation is $47,428.

(c) 90,000 options were granted on 31 July 2002. A Binomial valuation has assessed an indicative value of the options at the date of issue as being 
$29,097 (32.33 cents per option). The current financial year allocation of the valuation is $9,476.

Housewares International Limited
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Directors’ Meetings

The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of 
committees of directors) held during the year and the number  
of meetings attended by each director were as follows:

 Full Audit &   
  Board Compliance Remuneration

Number of Meetings 16 4 3

F Jones 14 (c) 4 3

J McConnell 16 4 (c) 3

P Morgan 16 4 3 (c)

S Klein 10 ^ 3 3

M Kirkby 16 – –

J Hersch 13 – –

C Little 3 # 1 # 0 #

P Ramsay 3 * – –

Notes
(c) Designates the chairman of the board or committee.

- Designates that the director is not a member of the applicable 
committee during the year.

^ S Klein attended 10 out of 12 board meetings held subsequent  
to his appointment on 26 September 2003.

# C Little attended 3 out of 4 board meetings held prior to his 
retirement on 25 September 2003.

* P Ramsay attended 3 out of 4 board meetings held prior to his 
resignation on 26 September 2003.

Committee Membership

As at the date of this report, the company had an audit and 
compliance committee and a remuneration committee of the 
board of directors. The details of the functions and memberships 
of the committees of the board is presented in the Corporate 
Governance Statement.

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers

Salary continuance insurance arrangements previously 
established were continued during 2004. These arrangements 
are pursuant to Executive Service Agreements previously entered 
into by the consolidated entity. The insurance premium relevant to 
each employee has been allocated in the emoluments disclosure.

Housewares International Limited paid an insurance premium of 
$76,500 in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
insuring each of the directors named earlier in this report and all 
executive officers of the consolidated entity, from all liabilities and 
expenses arising as a result of work performed in their respective 
capacities, to the extent permitted by law. The premium has not 
been allocated for the purposes of the emoluments disclosure.

Rounding

The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report 
have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is 
applicable) under the option available to the Company under 
ASIC class order 98/0100. The Company is an entity to which 
the class order applies.

Corporate Governance

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate 
behaviour and accountability, the directors of Housewares  
International Ltd support the principles of corporate governance. 
The company’s Corporate Governance Statement is contained  
in the annual report.

Tax Consolidation

Effective 1 July 2002, for the purposes of income taxation  
in Australia, Housewares International Limited and its 100%  
owned Australian subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated  
group. Members of the group have entered into a tax sharing 
arrangement in order to allocate income tax expense to the 
wholly-owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata basis. In addition, the 
agreement provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities 
between the entities should the head entity default on its tax 
payment obligations. At the balance date, the possibility of  
default is remote. The head entity of the tax consolidated group  
is Housewares International Limited.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors.

 
 
 
 

Frank Jones

Chairman

 
 
 
 

Mark Kirkby

Managing Director

Melbourne

25 August 2004

Directors’ Report continued
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Corporate Governance
Preamble

The board of directors (“board”) of Housewares International 
Limited (“HWI”) is responsible for the corporate governance of the 
consolidated entity. There is no single model of good corporate 
governance and therefore what constitutes good corporate 
governance for HWI will evolve with its changing circumstances 
and will be tailored to meet those circumstances. 

The format of the corporate governance statement has changed 
in comparison to the previous year due to the introduction of 
the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”) Corporate Governance 
Council’s (“council”) “Principles of Good Corporate Governance 
and Best Practice Recommendations”. The council’s principles 
are as follows:

Principle 1 >  Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

Principle 2 > Structure the board to add value

Principle 3 > Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

Principle 4 > Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

Principle 5 > Make timely and balanced disclosure

Principle 6 > Respect the rights of shareholders

Principle 7 > Recognise and manage risk

Principle 8 > Encourage enhanced performance

Principle 9 > Remunerate fairly and responsibly

Principle 10 > Recognise the legitimate interests of stakeholders

The council explains that the best practice recommendations 
are not prescriptive, but provide a framework to help companies 
provide meaningful and comparable disclosure about their 
governance practices. It also explains that these best practice 
recommendations are aspirational statements, which may not 
represent best practice in all situations. 

The company’s corporate governance practices throughout the 
year ended 30 June 2004 were compliant with the council’s 
best practice recommendations, except for those differences 
disclosed and explained in this statement.

The following documents are available on the corporate governance 
section of the company’s website, www.housewares.com.au

• selection and appointment of directors

• criteria for assessing independence

• code of conduct

• continuous disclosure policy

• share trading policy

• shareholder communications policy

• board charter

• audit and compliance committee charter

• remuneration committee charter

Role of the Board and Management

The board guides and monitors the business and affairs of 
HWI on behalf of the shareholders. The board has adopted 
formal guidelines for board operation and membership. These 
guidelines outline the roles and responsibilities of the board and 
its members, and establish the relationship between the board 
and management. 

The board is responsible for approving the strategic direction of 
the company, establishing goals for management and monitoring 
the achievement of those goals. The board will regularly review  
its performance and the performance of its committees.

The managing director is responsible to the board for the  
day-to-day management of the company. The managing director 
is not required to retire by rotation or stand for reappointment  
in accordance with the company’s constitution.

Board Structure

Board composition

The company’s constitution states that there must be a minimum 
of three directors and contains detailed provisions concerning 
the tenure of directors. The board currently comprises four non-
executive directors (including the chairman) and two executive 
directors (including the managing director). 

The directors’ biographies, on page 20, outline the relevant skills, 
experience, and expertise held by each director in office at the 
date of the annual report.

Director Appointed   Term in office  Non-executive Independent   Last elected Seeking election 
      or re-election 
          in 2004

Frank Jones (chairman) 2000 4 years Yes   No 2002 No

Peter Morgan 1999 5 years Yes   Yes 2001 Yes

John McConnell 1999 5 years Yes   Yes 2003 No

Steven Klein 2003 1 year Yes   No 2003 No

Mark Kirkby (M.D.) 2001 3 years No   No N/A No

Joseph Hersch 2001 3 years No   No 2001 Yes
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Director independence

In considering whether a director is independent, the board 
refers to the company’s “Criteria for assessing independence of 
directors”, which are consistent with the council’s best practice 
recommendations. Independent directors of HWI are those that 
are not involved in the day-to-day management of the company 
and are free from any real or reasonably perceived business or 
other relationship that could materially interfere with the exercise 
of their unfettered and independent judgement. 

In accordance with the definition of independence above, and 
the materiality thresholds outlined in the company’s ‘Criteria for 
assessing independence for directors’ policy, it is the board’s 
view that Mr John McConnell and Mr Peter Morgan are deemed 
to be independent directors. The following directors are not 
deemed to be independent directors:

•   Mr Frank Jones (chairman) is a director of Premier 
Investments Limited, which is a substantial shareholder in  
the company; 

•   Mr Steven Klein (non-executive director) is a partner of Arnold 
Bloch Leibler, which is a professional adviser to the company;

•  Mr Mark Kirkby (managing director); and

•  Mr Joseph Hersch (executive director). 

Regardless of whether directors are defined as independent, all 
directors are expected to bring independent views and judgment 
to board deliberations.

Majority independence

The board consists of a majority of non-executive directors; 
however, as only two of the six board members are independent, 
the board does not consist of a majority of independent directors as 
recommended in the council’s best practice recommendation 2.1. 

The board supports the comments made by the ASX 
Implementation Review Group (“IRG”) that: “Other board structures 
which do not include a majority of independent directors may 
also provide an acceptable level of objectivity. The IRG does not 
believe that an individual director will necessarily be unwilling or 
unable to safeguard shareholders’ interests or will necessarily lack 
objectivity or independence of mind, simply because they are not 
deemed to be ‘independent’. Safeguarding shareholder interests 
is a fundamental duty of all directors.”

Consequently, based on the overall size of the board and the 
commercial and industry experience on the board, the board’s 
composition has remained unchanged. However, with the 
announcement on 27 May 2004, that Mr Frank Jones (chairman) 
intends to retire as chairman and as a director of HWI at the end 
of the annual general meeting (“AGM”), the board will look to 
appoint a new chairman and recruit additional non-executive 
directors in the coming financial year. 

Independent chairman

Mr Frank Jones will continue in his role as chairman until the 
AGM and will assist the board with the appointment of, and the 
eventual transition to, the future chairman. 

Mr Frank Jones (chairman) is not considered to be independent  
by virtue of the fact that he is a director of a substantial 
shareholder of HWI. However, his appointment to this position 
during the year was deemed appropriate, due to his extensive 
experience and knowledge. 

Independent chairman

Mr Clive Little was the chairman until his resignation on 
25 September 2003. In accordance with the definition of 
independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, Mr Clive 
Little was an independent chairman. Consequently, the company 
complied with the council’s best practice recommendation 2.2, 
that the chairman should be an independent director, for the 
period from 1 July 2003 to 25 September 2003.

Material Personal Interest Requirement

The Corporations Act provides that unless agreed by the 
board, where any director has a material personal interest in a 
matter, the director will not be permitted to be present during 
discussions, or to vote on the matter. 

Access to independent advice

There are procedures in place, agreed by the board, to enable 
directors, in connection with their duties and responsibilities 
as directors, to seek independent professional advice at the 
expense of the company. 

Nomination Committee

During the year ended 30 June 2004, the company did not have 
a separately established nomination committee. All duties and 
responsibilities typically delegated to such a committee are the 
responsibility of the full board. Although this is different to the 
council’s best practice recommendation 2.4 that recommends 
that the company should establish a nomination committee, the 
board does not believe at this time that any marked efficiencies 
or enhancements would be achieved by the creation of a 
separate nomination committee.

Code of Conduct

The board has formally adopted a code of conduct (“code”) for all 
employees (including directors). The code aims at maintaining the 
highest ethical standards, corporate behaviour, and accountability 
across the group. 

These obligations are also consistent with the duties imposed 
on directors by the Corporations Act. In addition, directors are 
obliged to be independent in judgment and to ensure that all 
reasonable steps are taken to be satisfied as to the soundness  
of board decisions. 

Corporate Governance continued
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Audit and Compliance Committee

The board has an audit and compliance committee (A&CC), 
which operates under a charter approved by the board. It is the 
board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control 
framework exists within the consolidated entity. This includes 
internal controls to deal with both the effectiveness and efficiency 
of significant business processes, the safeguarding of assets, 
the maintenance of proper accounting records, and the reliability 
of financial information. The board has delegated the responsibility 
for the establishment and maintenance of a framework of internal 
control and ethical standards of HWI to the A&CC. 

Among its responsibilities, the A&CC:

• reviews all published accounts of the group; 

•  recommends to the board the appointment and remuneration 
of the external auditors;

• reviews the scope of external audits; 

•  assesses the performance and independence of the external 
auditors, including procedures governing partner rotation;

• reviews corporate governance practices; and 

•  monitors and assesses the systems for internal compliance 
and control, legal compliance, and risk management.

Composition of Committee

The current members of the A&CC are:

• Mr John McConnell (chairman)

• Mr Frank Jones

• Mr Peter Morgan

• Mr Steven Klein

The directors’ report, on page 24, outlines the number of A&CC 
meetings held during the year and the names of the attendees 
at those meetings. It also outlines the qualifications of A&CC 
members on page 20.

The managing director; company secretary; chief financial officer; 
the external auditors; and any other persons considered appropriate 
attend meetings of the A&CC by invitation. The committee also 
meets from time to time with the external auditors independent  
of management. 

In accordance with council’s best practice recommendation 4.3, 
the A&CC comprises:

• only non-executive directors;

•  an independent chairman, who is not chairman of the board; 
and

• at least three members.

However, the current composition of the A&CC does not contain 
a majority of independent directors, as recommended by the 
council. The board believes that, given the current size and 
composition of the board, the interests of the company are best 
served with all non-executive directors serving on the A&CC.  
The board notes that regardless of whether directors are defined 
as independent, all directors are expected to bring independent 
views and judgment to board deliberations. 

Risk Identification and Management

The company is committed to the identification, monitoring,  
and management of risks associated with its business activities, 
and has embedded in its management and reporting systems a 
number of risk management controls. These include: 

• guidelines and limits for approval of capital expenditure; 

•  policies and procedures for the management of financial 
risk and treasury operations including exposures to foreign 
currencies and movements in interest rates; and

•  annual budgeting and monthly reporting systems for all 
businesses which enable the monitoring of progress against 
performance targets and the evaluation of trends.

Management is ultimately responsible to the board for the system 
of internal control and risk management. The A&CC assists the 
board in monitoring this function. 

Performance

The performance of the board and key executives is reviewed 
regularly against both measurable and qualitative indicators. 
This involves an assessment of each board member’s and 
key executive’s performance against specific and measurable 
qualitative and quantitative performance criteria, and includes:

• financial measures of the company’s performance;

• achievement of strategic objectives;

• development of management and staff; 

•  compliance with legislative and company policy requirements; 
and

• achievement of key performance indicators.

Remuneration

Remuneration Committee

The board has a remuneration committee, comprising the 
following directors:

• Mr Peter Morgan (chairman)

• Mr Frank Jones

• Mr John McConnell 

• Mr Steven Klein 

For details on the number of meetings of the remuneration 
committee held during the year and the attendees at those 
meetings, refer to the directors’ report on page 24.

Remuneration Policy

It is the company’s objective to provide maximum stakeholder 
benefit from the retention of a high quality board and executive team 
by remunerating directors and key executives fairly and appropriately 
with reference to relevant employment market conditions. 

The remuneration committee is responsible for determining and 
reviewing compensation arrangements for directors, including 
the managing director and the executive team. The remuneration 
committee may seek appropriate external advice to assist its 
decision making. 
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Non-executive directors 

The company’s non-executive directors receive only fees and 
statutory superannuation for their services and the reimbursement 
of reasonable expenses. 

Non-executive directors do not receive any shares, options or 
other securities in addition to their remuneration and are not 
eligible to participate in the company’s Senior Executive Option 
Plan or any other incentive plan. There is no scheme to provide 
retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation, to non-
executive directors.

Executive directors and senior executives

The remuneration committee is responsible for determining the 
remuneration policies for the group, including those affecting the 
executive directors and the senior executives. The remuneration 
committee links the nature and amount of executive directors’ 
and officers’ emoluments to the company’s financial and 
operational performance. The expected outcomes of the 
remuneration structure are:

• retention and motivation of key executives;

• attraction of quality management to the company; and

•  performance incentives that allow executives to share the 
rewards of the success of HWI.

In relation to the payment of bonuses, options, and other incentive 
payments, the remuneration committee exercises discretion, having 
regard to the overall performance of HWI and the performance of 
the individual during the period.

Fixed remuneration

Executive directors and senior executives receive fixed 
remuneration including a base salary, superannuation, and other 
benefits, such as a motor vehicle. Executive directors and senior 
executives may choose to have the company contribute beyond 
the minimum statutory level of superannuation, in lieu of cash 
salary, to a nominated superannuation fund. 

Annual and long-term incentives

The remuneration committee exercises discretion in relation to 
the payment of bonuses, options, and other incentive payments, 
having regard to the overall performance of HWI and the 
performance of the individual during the period.

Executive directors and senior executives receive long-term 
incentives through share options. Options may only be issued in 
accordance with the company’s Senior Executive Option Plan, 
are valid for a term of five years and are exercisable in equal 
tranches on the first three anniversaries of the date of issue. 

Remuneration Disclosure

For details on the amount of remuneration and all monetary  
and non-monetary components for each of the five highest-paid 
(non-director) executives during the year and for all directors, 
refer to the directors’ report on page 23.

Corporate Governance continued
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Housewares International Limited

Statement of Financial Performance
for the year ended 30 June 2004

 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales revenue 2(a) 457,616 455,982 – –

Cost of sales (270,853) (281,855) – –

Other costs related to the sale of goods 2(b) (68,366) (69,604) – –

Gross profit 118,397 104,523 – –

Other revenues from ordinary activities 2(a) 1,547 3,331 12,745 6,999

Share of net profits of joint venture partnership  
accounted for using equity method 9(b) 99 12 – –

Employee expenses (45,862) (43,285) – –

Advertising expense (8,128) (7,376) – –

Depreciation & amortisation expense 2(b) (5,271) (4,519) – –

Premises, lease & utilities expenses (12,373) (10,137) – –

Borrowing costs expense 2(b) (5,370) (5,295) – –

Other expenses from ordinary activities (7,550) (6,393) – –

Specific expenses:

– Redundancy costs (1,200) – – –

– Restructuring costs (251) – – –

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense 34,038 30,861 12,745 6,999

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities 3 (11,180) (9,916) (62) (58)

Net profit attributable to members of  
Housewares International Limited 23 22,858 20,945 12,683 6,941

Increase/(decrease) in retained profits on adoption  
of revised accounting standard:

– AASB 1028 “Employee Benefits” 23 – (117) – –

Net exchange difference on translation of financial  
statements of self-sustaining foreign operations 22(b)(i) (202) (4,475) – –

Share issue costs 21(b) (36) (15) (36) (15)

Total revenues, expenses and valuation  
adjustments attributable to members of  
Housewares International Limited  
and recognised directly into equity (238) (4,607) (36) (15)

Total change in equity from non-owner  
transactions attributable to members  
of Housewares International Limited 22,620 16,338 12,647 6,926

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 24 19.70 18.55

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 24 19.20 18.36

Franked dividend per share (cents per share) 4 10.5 10.0

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Financial Performance.
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets
Cash assets 25(a) 7,203 11,322 – –

Receivables 6 70,761 61,314 47,740 40,094

Inventories 7 93,598 82,881 – –

Other 8 2,287 2,343 – –

Total current assets 173,849 157,860 47,740 40,094

Non-current assets
Receivables 10 983 1,725 983 1,725

Investments accounted for using the equity method 9(c) 7,246 7,295 – –

Other financial assets 11 – – 69,429 69,429

Plant and equipment 13 11,446 8,611 – –

Deferred tax assets 3 7,111 6,055 – –

Intangibles 14 78,165 67,165 – –

Total non-current assets 104,951 90,851 70,412 71,154

Total assets 278,800 248,711 118,152 111,248

Current liabilities
Payables 15 39,462 42,888 – –

Interest-bearing liabilities 16 8,022 4,466 – –

Tax liabilities 3 2,686 3,203 33 39

Provisions 17 6,713 4,096 – –

Total current liabilities 56,883 54,653 33 39

Non-current liabilities
Payables 18 – 465 – –

Interest-bearing liabilities 19 62,400 50,728 – –

Provisions 20 771 1,002 – –

Total non-current liabilities 63,171 52,195 – –

Total liabilities 120,054 106,848 33 39

Net assets 158,746 141,863 118,119 111,209

Equity
Contributed equity 21 118,044 111,086 118,044 111,086

Reserves 22 764 966 – –

Retained profits 23 39,938 29,811 75 123

Total equity 158,746 141,863 118,119 111,209

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Financial Position.

Statement of Financial Position
at 30 June 2004



         32  

Housewares International Limited

 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 486,162 488,417 – –

Payments to suppliers and employees (449,177) (454,121) – –

Dividends received – – 12,537 6,805

Interest received 411 407 208 194

Borrowing costs paid (5,427) (5,295) – –

Income taxes paid (11,973) (8,686) (68) (41)

Net cash flows from operating activities 25(b) 19,996 20,722 12,677 6,958

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of business 25(c) (17,160) – – –

Investment in SABCO working capital (8,700) – – –

Purchase of business 25(d) (838) (924) – –

Purchase of plant and equipment (6,449) (4,762) – –

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 210 279 – –

Distribution from joint venture partnership – 112 – –

Loans granted to joint venture partnership – (1,116) – –

Net cash flows used in investing activities (32,937) (6,411) – –

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings from controlled entities – – (6,109) (1,425)

Proceeds from borrowings from non related entities 118,580 49,885 – –

Repayment of borrowings from non related entities (103,911) (55,383) – –

Proceeds from issues of ordinary shares 3,624 1,590 3,624 1,590

Payment of share issue costs (36) (15) (36) (15)

Payment of dividends on ordinary shares 4(a) (10,156) (7,108) (10,156) (7,108)

Principal repayments finance leases (33) (145) – –

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 8,068 (11,176) (12,677) (6,958)

Net increase in cash held (4,873) 3,135 – –

Cash at the beginning of the financial year 11,317 9,138 – –

Exchange rate variations on foreign cash balances 190 (956) – –

Cash at the end of the financial year 25(a) 6,634 11,317 – –

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Cash Flows.

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2004
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of accounting

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report,  
which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 including applicable Accounting 
Standards. Other mandatory professional reporting requirements 
(Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views) have also been 
complied with.

The financial report has been prepared in accordance with  
the historical cost convention, except for identifiable intangible 
assets – brand names, measured at fair value.

(b) Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those 
applied in the 30 June 2003 Annual Report.

(c) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining  
the financial statements of all the entities that comprise the 
consolidated entity, being Housewares International Limited  
(the parent company) and its controlled entities as defined in 
Accounting Standard AASB 1024 ‘Consolidated Accounts’.  
A list of controlled entities appears in note 12 to the financial 
statements. Consistent accounting policies are employed  
in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated  
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements include the information 
and results of each controlled entity from the date on which the 
parent company obtains control and until such time as the 
company ceases to control such entity.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany 
balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising 
within the consolidated entity are eliminated in full.

(d) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and 
repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand and in banks and short-term deposits are stated 
at nominal value.

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes 
cash on hand and in banks and deposits at call, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are carried at the principal 
amount. Interest is recognised as an expense as it accrues.

Notes to the Financial Report
for the year ended 30 June 2004

(f) Receivables

Trade debtors are recognised and carried at original invoice 
amount less a provision for any uncollectible debts.

An estimate of doubtful debts is made when collection of the  
full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written-off  
as incurred.

Receivables from related parties are recognised and carried at 
the nominal amount due. Interest is taken up as income on an 
accrual basis.

(g) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present 
location and condition is accounted for as purchase cost on  
an average cost basis.

(h) Recoverable amounts of non-current assets

Non-current assets are written down to their recoverable amount 
when their carrying amount is greater than its recoverable amount. 
In determining the recoverable amount of non-current assets, 
the expected net cash flows have not been discounted to their 
present value.

(i) Investments

Investments in joint venture partnerships are accounted for under 
the equity method. The interest in joint venture partnerships is 
carried at the lower of the equity-accounted amount and 
recoverable amount in the consolidated financial statements.

All other non-current investments are carried at the lower of  
cost and recoverable amount.

(j) Plant and equipment

The consolidated entity does not own any land or buildings.  
All plant and equipment are measured at cost and depreciated, 
so as to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each 
asset over its expected useful life.

Owned motor vehicles within plant and equipment are depreciated 
at 18.75-22.5% on a diminishing basis. The cost of improvements 
to or on leasehold property is capitalised and amortised over  
the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of 
the improvements, whichever is the shorter. All other owned 
plant and equipment is depreciated over 2 to 5 years on a 
straight line basis.
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Notes to the Financial Report continued

for the year ended 30 June 2004

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(k) Leases

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating  
or finance leases based on the economic substance of the 
agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental  
to ownership.

Operating leases

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the 
lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and benefits 
of ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense 
on a straight-line basis. Operating lease incentives, when 
received, are recognised as a liability and subsequently reduced 
by allocating lease payments between rental expense and the 
liability. Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the 
financial year in which they are incurred.

Finance leases

A finance lease is one which effectively transfers substantially  
all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased 
property from the lessor to the lessee. At the beginning of the 
lease term an asset and a liability will be recognised equal to  
the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated on a straight line 
basis over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets 
and the lease term. Minimum lease payments are allocated 
between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability. 
The interest expense will be calculated using the interest rate 
implicit to the outstanding lease liability and charged directly to  
the Statement of Financial Performance.

(l) Intangibles

Goodwill

At the time of acquisition of a business or shares in a controlled 
entity, the excess of the cost of acquisition (being the purchase 
consideration determined as at the date of acquisition, plus 
costs incidental to the acquisition) over the fair value of identifiable 
net assets acquired, is initially brought to account as goodwill.

Goodwill is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period 
during which the benefits are expected to be received, which is 
currently twenty years.

Brand names

Brand names are included at fair value where fair value has  
been determined by applying the “relief from royalty” valuation 
methodology. The fair value adopted was based on a Directors 
valuation. The Directors believe that the brand names have a 
very long useful life of not less than forty years. Brand names 
are not amortised because the Directors consider that they 
could always dispose of the brand names in the foreseeable 
future for an amount in real terms that is not less than their 
current carrying value.

(m) Payables

Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at 
cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the 
future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to 
the consolidated entity.

In the event that settlement of all or part of the cash consideration 
given in the acquisition of an asset is deferred, the fair value of 
the purchase consideration is determined by discounting the 
amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the 
date of acquisition.

(n) Interest-bearing liabilities

Bills payable are recognised when issued at the amount of the 
net proceeds received, with the premium on issue amortised 
over the period to maturity. Interest is recognised as an expense 
on an effective yield basis.

Redeemable preference shares that exhibit characteristics of 
liabilities are recognised as “deferred cash settlement” in the 
Statement of Financial Position. The corresponding dividends 
are charged as an interest expense in the Statement of  
Financial Performance.

Finance lease liability is determined in accordance with the 
requirements of AASB 1008 “Leases”.

(o) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has  
a legal, equitable or constructive obligation to make a future 
sacrifice of economic benefits to other entities as a result of past 
transactions or other past events, it is probable that a future 
sacrifice of economic benefits will be required and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

A provision for warranty and faulty goods is recognised for all 
products under warranty or legislative obligation at the reporting 
date based on sales volume and past experience of the level of 
repairs and returns.

A provision for dividends is not recognised as a liability unless 
the dividends are declared, determined or publicly recommended 
on or before the reporting date.

(p) Employee benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees, 
accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to 
the reporting date, when it is probable that settlement will be 
required and they are capable of being measured reliably. These 
benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave 
and long service leave.

Provisions made in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, 
sick leave and any other employee benefits (including long 
service leave) expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date, are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
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(p) Employee benefits continued

Provisions made in respect of other employee benefits (including 
long service leave) which are not expected to be settled within 
12 months are measured at the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made by the consolidated entity in 
respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date. 
In determining the present value of future cash outflows, the 
market yield as at the reporting date on national government 
bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms  
of the related liability, are used.

Employee benefit expenses and revenues arising in respect of 
the following categories:

• wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, annual leave, 
long service leave, sick leave and other leave benefits; and

• other types of employee benefits

are recognised against profits on a net basis in their respective 
categories.

The value of the equity-based compensation scheme described in 
Note 29 is not being recognised as an employee benefits expense.

(q) Contributed equity

Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received by the company.

Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are 
recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the share 
proceeds received.

(r) Senior executive option plan

Certain senior executives and employees are entitled to participate 
in the company’s Senior Executive Option Plan. The details of 
the scheme are set out in Note 29. No remuneration expense is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance in respect 
of employee shares and options issued.

Under the terms and conditions of the Senior Executive Option 
Plan, employees are entitled to apply for a company loan to fund 
the issue of shares for a fixed period of time. Until the loan is 
repaid in full, employees are unable to deal in shares issued 
under the plan.

Company loans granted in relation to the Senior Executive Option 
Plan are disclosed as assets in the Statement of Financial Position.

(s) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria 
must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods and disposal of assets

The consolidated entity has passed control of the goods or 
other assets to the buyer. The transfer of control coincides with 
the earlier of the transfer of legal title or the passing of 
possession to the buyer.

Interest

The consolidated entity controls the right to receive the interest 
payment, as it accrues.

Dividends

The consolidated entity controls the right to receive the dividend 
payment, when it is declared.

(t) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of GST except where the GST incurred on a purchase 
of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable; and receivables and payables are stated with the 
amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables 
in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a 
gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating 
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable, to the taxation authority.

(u) Income tax

Tax effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby 
income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated on the 
accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences. To the 
extent timing differences occur between the time items are 
recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken 
into account in determining taxable income, the net related 
taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates, is disclosed 
as a future income tax benefit or a provision for deferred income 
tax. The net future income tax benefit relating to tax losses and 
timing differences is not carried forward as an asset unless the 
benefit is virtually certain of being realised.

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued



         36  

Housewares International Limited

Notes to the Financial Report continued

for the year ended 30 June 2004

(v) Foreign currency

Translation of financial reports of overseas operations

All overseas operations are deemed self-sustaining, as each is 
financially and operationally independent of Housewares International 
Limited. The financial reports of overseas operations are translated 
using the current rate method and any exchange differences are 
taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.

Translation of foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies of entities within the consolidated 
entity are converted to local currency at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at the 
reporting date (other than monetary items arising under foreign 
currency contracts where the exchange rate for that monetary 
item is fixed in the contract) are translated using the spot rate at 
the end of the financial year.

A monetary item arising under a foreign currency contract 
outstanding at the reporting date where the exchange rate for 
the monetary item is fixed in the contract is translated at the 
exchange rate fixed in the contract.

Except for certain specific hedges, all resulting exchange 
differences arising on settlement or re-statement are recognised 
as revenues and expenses for the financial year. Any gains or 
costs on entering a hedge are deferred and amortised over the 
life of the contract.

Specific hedges

Where a purchase is specifically hedged, exchange gains or 
losses on the hedging transaction arising up to the date of purchase 
and costs, premiums and discounts relative to the hedging 
transaction are deferred and included in the measurement of the 
purchase. Exchange gains and losses arising on the hedge 
transaction after that date are taken to the net profit.

Hedges of foreign operations

Exchange differences relating to foreign currency monetary 
items forming part of the net investment in a self-sustaining 
foreign operation, together with hedges of such monetary items 
and related tax effects, are eliminated against the foreign currency 
translation reserve on incorporation of the foreign operation’s 
financial report into the financial report of Housewares 
International Limited.

(w) Derivative financial instruments

Forward exchange

The consolidated entity enters into forward exchange contracts 
and put options where it agrees to buy specified amounts of 
foreign currencies in the future at a predetermined exchange 
rate. The objective is to match the contract with anticipated 
future cash flows from purchases in foreign currencies, to 
protect the consolidated entity against the possibility of loss  
from future exchange rate fluctuations. The forward exchange 
contracts are usually for no longer than 12 months.

Exchange gains or losses on forward exchange contracts are 
charged to the Statement of Financial Performance except 
those relating to hedges of specific commitments that are 
deferred and included in the measurement of the purchase.

Interest Rate Swaps

The consolidated entity enters into interest rate swap agreements 
that are used to convert the short term fixed interest rate of its 
short-term borrowings to medium-term fixed interest rates. The 
swaps are entered into with the objective of reducing the risk of 
rising interest rates.

It is the company’s policy not to recognise interest rate swaps  
in the financial statements. Net receipts and payments are 
recognised as an adjustment to interest expense.

(x) Earnings Per Share

Basic EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, 
adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than 
dividends) and any preference share dividends, divided by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any 
bonus element.

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, 
adjusted for:

• costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and 
preference share dividends;

• the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with 
dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognized  
as expenses; and

• other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses 
during the period that would result from the dilution of potential 
ordinary shares;

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and 
dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 2. Revenues and Expenses from Ordinary Activities

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense  
includes the following revenue and expenses whose disclosure  
is relevant in explaining the financial performance of the entity:

(a) Revenue from Ordinary Activities

Revenues from operating activities
Revenue from sale of goods 457,616 455,982 – –

Revenue from non-operating activities
Interest from unrelated persons 411 407 208 193

Gross proceeds from the sale of non-current assets (i) 210 279 – –

Dividends receivable – wholly owned group – – 12,537 6,806

Foreign exchange translation gains 604 2,603 – –

Other 322 42 – –

Total revenue from non operating activities 1,547 3,331 12,745 6,999

Total revenue from ordinary activities 459,163 459,313 12,745 6,999

(i) Loss on sale of plant and equipment (109) (435) – –

(b) Expenses from Ordinary Activities

Other costs related to the sale of goods

Rebates paid / payable to customers 39,234 39,867 – –

Costs of delivering goods to customers 19,703 18,674 – –

Discounts and returns 10,263 10,500 – –

Provision for diminution in value of inventory (983) 385 – –

Other costs 149 178 – –

 68,366 69,604 – –

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of plant and equipment 3,535 3,023 – –

Amortisation of leased assets 4 46 – –

Amortisation of goodwill 1,732 1,450 – –

 5,271 4,519 – –

Borrowing costs
Interest paid or payable

– Other interest bearing liabilities 4,036 4,115 – –

– Redeemable preference shares 243 254 – –

– Finance lease 1 9 – –

Other borrowing costs 1,090 917 – –

 5,370 5,295 – –
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 2. Revenues and Expenses from Ordinary Activities continued

Other expense items

Bad and doubtful debts (475) 419 – –

Operating lease rentals 8,136 7,983 – –

Write-back of redundancy – (260) – –

Provision for employee entitlements 3,816 3,576 – –

Note 3: Income tax

The difference between income tax expense provided in the  
financial statements and the prima facie income tax expense  
is reconciled as follows:

Profit from ordinary activities 34,038 30,861 12,745 6,999

Prima facie tax thereon at 30% 10,211 9,258 3,823 2,100

Tax effect of permanent and other differences

– amortisation of goodwill 520 435 – –

– rebateable dividends – – (3,761) (2,042)

– other items (net) (1) 183 – –

Amounts over provided in prior years (4) (185) – –

Effect of different rates of tax on overseas income 454 225 – –

Total income tax attributable to ordinary activities 11,180 9,916 62 58

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax asset – non-current 7,111 6,055 – –

Tax liabilities – current 2,686 3,203 33 39

Tax Consolidation

Effective 1 July 2002, for the purposes of income taxation in Australia, Housewares International Limited and its 100% owned Australian 
subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group. Members of the group have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate 
income tax expense to the wholly-owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata basis. In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of income 
tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. At the balance date, the possibility of 
default is remote. The head entity of the tax consolidated group is Housewares International Limited.

Housewares International Limited formally notified the Australian Tax Office of its adoption of the tax consolidation regime when lodging its 
30 June 2003 consolidated tax return. However, at the date of this report the company is in the process of obtaining external valuations 
and conducting an assessment of the financial effects that implementation may have on the tax consolidated group. As a result, no 
adjustment has been made to recognise the financial effects, if any, that may result from the implementation of the tax consolidation system.
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 4: Dividends

(a) Dividends paid during the year

Franked Dividends paid in cash

–  Current year interim dividend (7.0 cents per share)  
(2003: 6.0 cents) 6,532 5,601 6,532 5,601

–  Previous year final dividend (4.0 cents per share)  
(2003: 4.0 cents) 3,624 1,507 3,624 1,507

Total franked dividends paid in cash 10,156 7,108 10,156 7,108

Franked Dividends reinvested

–  Current year interim dividend (7.0 cents per share)  
(2003: 6.0 cents) 1,626 1,206 1,626 1,206

–  Previous year final dividend (4.0 cents per share)  
(2003: 3.0 cents) 949 1,831 949 1,831

Total franked dividends reinvested 2,575 3,037 2,575 3,037

Total franked dividends 12,731 10,145 12,731 10,145

(b) Dividends proposed and not recognised as a liability

–  Franked final dividend (3.5 cents per share)  
(2003: 4.0 cents) 34 4,106 4,573 4,106 4,573

Franking credit balance

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year using the franking rate  
applicable at 30 June 2004 are as follows:

Franking credit balance as at the end of the financial year at 30%   15,509 9,218

Franking credits/(debits) that will arise from the payment/(refund)  
of income tax payable as at the end of the financial year   1,597 2,293

Franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends  
as at the end of the financial year   – –

   17,106 11,511

The tax rate at which paid dividends have been franked is 30% (2003: 30%). Dividends proposed will be franked at the rate of 30% 
(2003: 30%).

Note 5. Segment Information

Segment Products and Locations

The consolidated entity’s operating companies are organised and managed separately according to their geographic location.  
As the consolidated entity provides similar product offerings to each geographic location and serves the one wholesale market  
there is no secondary business segment disclosed.

Geographically, the group operates in four predominant segments, being Australia, New Zealand, Hong Kong and North America.  
The head office activities of the group take place in Australia.
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Note 5. Segment Information continued

Segment Reporting – Primary Segment – Geographic Segments

 Australia New Zealand Hong Kong Nth America Eliminations Consolidated

30 June 2004 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue
Sales to customers outside  
the consolidated entity 351,507 38,318 15,471 52,320 – 457,616

Other revenue from outside  
the consolidated entity 828 65 141 43 60 1,137

Inter segment revenue 1,806 – – 454 (2,260) –

Total segment revenue 354,141 38,383 15,612 52,817 (2,200) 458,753

Unallocated revenue      411

Total revenues from ordinary activities      459,164

Share of net profits/(losses)  
of joint venture partnership      99

Total consolidated revenue      459,263

Results

Segment result 26,265 1,264 4,421 6,821 (864) 37,907

Unallocated expenses      (3,869)

Consolidated entity profit from  
activities before income tax expense      34,038

Income tax expense      (11,180)

Consolidated entity profit from ordinary  
activities after income tax expense      22,858

Segment Assets

Segment Assets 231,022 16,460 1,675 31,667 (9,240) 271,584

Unallocated assets      7,216

Total Assets      278,800

Segment Liabilities

Segment Liabilities 37,734 3,925 1,290 4,074 (77) 46,946

Unallocated assets      73,108

Total Liabilities      120,054

Other Segment Information
Equity accounted investments 
included in segment assets 251 – – 6,995 – 7,246

Acquisition of plant and equipment 5,874 421 5 318 – 6,618

Depreciation 3,242 126 61 110 – 3,539

Amortisation 868 – – – 864 1,732
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Note 5. Segment Information continued

Segment Reporting – Primary Segment – Geographic Segments

 Australia New Zealand Hong Kong Nth America Eliminations Consolidated

30 June 2003 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue
Sales to customers outside  
the consolidated entity 340,106 41,105 13,691 61,081 – 455,983

Other revenue from outside  
the consolidated entity 2,087 465 378 39 (46) 2,923

Inter segment revenue (1,531) – – – 1,531 –

Total segment revenue 340,662 41,570 14,069 61,120 1,485 458,906

Unallocated revenue      407

Total revenues from ordinary activities      459,313

Share of net profits/(losses)  
of joint venture partnership      12

Total consolidated revenue      459,325

Results

Segment result 26,200 556 2,838 6,508 (864) 35,238

Unallocated expenses      (4,377)

Consolidated entity profit from  
activities before income tax expense      30,861

Income tax expense      (9,916)

Consolidated entity profit from ordinary  
activities after income tax expense      20,945

Segment Assets

Segment Assets 202,406 19,383 1,024 27,791 (8,849) 241,755

Unallocated assets      6,956

Total Assets      248,711

Segment Liabilities

Segment Liabilities 37,636 3,264 662 5,665 (79) 47,148

Unallocated assets      59,700

Total Liabilities      106,848

Other Segment Information

Equity accounted investments  
included in segment assets 286 – – 7,009 – 7,295

Acquisition of plant and equipment 4,452 221 38 51 – 4,762

Depreciation 2,744 107 84 134 – 3,069

Amortisation 586 – – – 864 1,450
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 6. Receivables (current)

Trade debtors (a) 66,276 55,377 – –

Provision for doubtful debts (1,467) (3,127) – –

Trade debtors, net 64,809 52,250 – –

Non-trade amounts owing by:

– unrelated persons (b) 1,198 591 – –

– loans to other related persons (c) 505 750 505 750

– loan to Joint Venture Partnership 31(c) 1,094 1,117 – –

– wholly owned group 31(b) – – 47,235 39,344

Hedging foreign currency receivable (d) 2,346 4,741 – –

Hedging foreign currency put option receivable (e) 809 1,865 – –

 70,761 61,314 47,740 40,094

Terms and conditions

(a) Trade debtors are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms.

(b) Non-trade receivables are non-interest bearing and have repayment terms between 30 and 60 days.

(c) Housewares International Ltd has provided loans to senior executives, specified executives, and specified directors to fund the 
exercising of options to acquire shares in the company. The loans were issued in accordance with the terms of the Housewares 
International Senior Executive Option Plan such that interest on the loan equals the dividends and other distributions payable from 
time to time on the company shares acquired with the loan.

(d) Hedging foreign currency receivable represents the net receivable arising from foreign currency forward contracts.

(e) Hedging foreign currency put options receivable represents the net receivable arising from foreign currency put option contracts.

 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 7: Inventories (current)

Finished goods 76,056 72,057 – –

Stock in transit 20,064 15,694 – –

 96,120 87,751 – –

Provision for diminution in value (2,522) (4,870) – –

Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value 93,598 82,881 – –

Note 8: Other Assets (current)

Prepayments 2,287 2,343 – –

Total other assets 2,287 2,343 – –
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  Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 9: Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method

Investment in joint venture partnership 7,246 7,295 – –

Interest in Joint Venture Partnership

   Ownership interest %  
   held by consolidated entity

  30 June  30 June  
Name Balance Date 2004 2003

Anglo Canadian Housewares, L.P. 30 June 2004 50.0 50.0

(a) Principal activities

The principal activities of the joint venture partnership comprise the importation, distribution and marketing of homewares and electrical 
products in Canada.

   Consolidated

   30 June  30 June 
   2004 2003 
   $’000 $’000

(b) Share of joint venture partnership’s profits

Revenues   22,585 20,327

Expenses   (22,285) (20,064)

Amortisation   (201) (251)

Net profits   99 12

(c) Carrying amount of investment in joint venture partnership

Balance at beginning of financial year   7,295 7,866

Change in exchange rates on opening balance   (148) (471)

Share of joint venture partnership profits   99 12

Distributions received from joint venture partnership   – (112)

Balance at end of the financial year   7,246 7,295

(d) Share of joint venture partnership’s assets and liabilities

Current assets   11,727 10,318

Non-current assets   697 780

Current liabilities   (7,006) (5,882)

Non-current liabilities   (1,097) (1,134)

Net assets   4,321 4,082

(e) Retained profits of the consolidated entity attributable to the joint venture partnership

Balance at the beginning of the financial year   (51) 49

Share of the joint venture partnership’s profits   99 12

Distributions received from joint venture partnership   – (112)

Balance at the end of the financial year   48 (51)
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   Consolidated

   30 June  30 June 
   2004 2003 
   $’000 $’000

Note 9: Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method continued

Interest in Joint Venture Partnership continued

(f) Share of joint venture partnerships commitments

(i) Operating lease expenditure contracted for is payable as follows:
Not later than one year   539 559

Later than one year but not later than five years   2,099 2,158

Later than five years   1,050 1,504

   3,688 4,221

 
(ii) Letters of credit outstanding   1,728 2,002

 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 10: Receivables (non-current)

Non-trade amounts owing by:

– loans to specified directors 6(c) 650 825 650 825

– loans to specified executives 6(c) 93 – 93 –

– loans to other related persons 6(c) 240 900 240 900

 983 1,725 983 1,725

Note 11: Other Financial Assets (non-current)

Investments at cost comprise

Shares in controlled entities – unlisted – – 69,429 69,429
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Note 12: Interests in Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2004 include the following controlled entities. The financial years of all controlled 
entities are the same as that of Housewares International Limited.

   % of shares held

  Place of 30 June  30 June  
Name of controlled entity Note  Incorporation / Formation 2004 2003

Thebe International Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100% 100%

Breville Holdings Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100% 100%

Breville Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100% 100%

Sarina Enterprises Pty Ltd  Australia 100% 100%

Srinigar Investments Pty Ltd  Australia 100% 100%

Kashmir Investments Pty Ltd  Australia 100% 100%

Breville R&D Pty Ltd  Australia 100% 100%

Breville NZ Ltd  New Zealand 100% 100%

Breville International Pty Ltd  Hong Kong 100% 100%

Gannet Holdings Ltd  Hong Kong 100% 100%

HWI Export Ltd  Hong Kong 100% 100%

Thebe International, Inc.  USA 100% 100%

Metro/Thebe, Inc.  USA 100% 100%

Holding HWI Canada, Inc  Canada 100% 100%

HWI Canada, Inc  Canada 100% 100%

(a) Entities subject to class order relief

Pursuant to Class Order 98/1418, relief has been granted to Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holdings Pty Ltd 
from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of their financial reports.

As a condition of the Class Order, a deed of Cross Guarantee dated 4 November 1999 was entered into between Housewares 
International Ltd and Thebe International Pty Ltd. This deed was subsequently assumed by Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holding Pty Ltd 
under an assumption deed dated 19 December 2001. The deed of Cross Guarantee provides that the parties to the deed will 
guarantee to each creditor payment in full of any debt of each company participating in the deed on winding-up of that company.

The entities comprising the class order “Closed Group” are Housewares International Limited, Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville Pty 
Ltd, and Breville Holdings Pty Ltd. The consolidated Statement of Financial Performance and Statement of Financial Position of the 
entities which are members of the class order “Closed Group” are set out on the following pages.
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   Closed Group

   30 June  30 June 
   2004 2003 
   $’000 $’000

Note 12: Interests in Subsidiaries continued

(i) Consolidated statement of financial position for Class Order Closed Group

Current assets
Cash assets   4,578 6,991

Receivables   66,369 58,815

Inventories   66,411 55,329

Other   1,756 1,085

Total Current Assets   139,114 122,220

Non-current assets
Receivables   983 1,725

Other financial assets   18,298 18,661

Plant and equipment   10,341 7,857

Intangible assets   71,777 60,402

Deferred tax assets   3,340 3,410

Total Non-Current Assets   104,739 92,055

Total Assets   243,853 214,275

Current liabilities
Payables   31,213 33,484

Interest-bearing liabilities   2,236 1,671

Tax liabilities   1,543 2,239

Other provisions   5,745 3,983

Total Current Liabilities   40,737 41,377

Non-current liabilities
Payables   – 465

Interest-bearing liabilities   62,400 45,000

Other provisions   771 1,001

Total Non-Current Liabilities   63,171 46,466

Total Liabilities   103,908 87,843

Net Assets   139,945 126,432

Equity
Contributed equity   118,044 111,086

Reserves   4,356 3,852

Retained profits   17,545 11,494

Total Equity   139,945 126,432
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   Closed Group

   30 June  30 June 
   2004 2003 
   $’000 $’000

Note 12: Interests in Subsidiaries continued

(ii) Consolidated statement of financial performance for Class Order Closed Group

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense   25,937 22,285

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities   (7,155) (6,917)

Net profit   18,782 15,368

Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year   11,494 3,029

Adjustment arising from the adoption of revised accounting standard:

– AASB 1028 “Employee Benefits”   – (86)

– AASB 1044 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”   – 3,327

Dividends paid or reinvested   (12,731) (10,144)

Retained profits at the end of the financial year   17,545 11,494

  Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 13: Plant and Equipment

Plant and Equipment – owned

At cost 26,898 21,478 – –

Accumulated depreciation (15,452) (12,900) – –

 11,446 8,578 – –

Plant and Equipment – leased

At cost – 80 – –

Accumulated amortisation – (47) – –

 – 33 – –

Total written down value of plant and equipment 11,446 8,611 – –

a)  Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant  
and equipment at the beginning and end of the year

Plant and Equipment – owned

Carrying amount at beginning 8,578 7,514 – –

Additions 6,449 4,762 – –

Additions through acquisition of business 248 – – –

Disposals (290) (616) – –

Depreciation expense (3,535) (3,023) – –

Currency translation difference (4) (59) – –

 11,446 8,578 – –
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 13: Plant and Equipment continued

a)  Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant and  
equipment at the beginning and end of the year continued

Plant and Equipment – leased
Carrying amount at beginning 33 177 – –

Disposals (29) (98) – –

Amortisation expense (4) (46) – –

 – 33 – –

Note 14: Intangibles (non-current)

Goodwill at cost 35,783 29,751 – –

Accumulated amortisation (6,318) (4,586) – –

 29,465 25,165 – –

Brand names at fair value 48,700 42,000 – –

Total intangible assets, net 78,165 67,165 – –

a)  Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of intangible  
assets at the beginning and end of the year

Goodwill
Carrying amount at beginning 25,165 24,940 – –

Goodwill on acquisition of business 25(c) 6,032 – – –

Goodwill on acquisition of business 25(d) – 1,675 – –

Amortisation charge (1,732) (1,450) – –

 29,465 25,165 – –

Brand names
Carrying amount at beginning 42,000 42,000 – –

Additions through acquisition of business 25(c) 6,700 – – –

 48,700 42,000 – –
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 15: Payables (current)

Trade creditors – unsecured (a) 35,233 35,103 – –

Hedging foreign currency payable (b) 2,346 4,741 – –

Foreign currency put option payable (c) 1,418 2,206 – –

Deferred cash settlement for business acquired (d) 465 838 – –

 39,462 42,888 – –

Terms and conditions relating to the financial instruments:

(a) Trade creditors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms.

(b) Hedging foreign currency payable represents the net payable arising from foreign currency forward contracts. Under the contracts, 
consolidated entity is required to purchase a total of US$38,552 at various dates, at fixed exchange rates ranging from US$0.6900 
to US$0.7315.

(c) Foreign currency put options represents the net payable arising from foreign currency put option contracts. Under the contracts, 
consolidated entity has the option to purchase a total of US$30,050 at various dates, at fixed exchange rates ranging from 
US$0.67 to US$0.68.

(d) At reporting date, the consolidated entity had a deferred cash settlement representing the remaining consideration payable for the 
acquisition of the business for Liddy Corporation Pty Ltd and E-Lid Pty Ltd (formerly Liddy Design Pty Ltd). The timing of the final 
deferred cash settlement is 1 July 2004.

 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 16: Interest Bearing Liabilities (current)

Borrowing secured by a fixed and floating charge

Bank overdraft (a), 25(a) 569 5 – –

Bills of exchange (a) 5,786 2,794 – –

Unsecured

Deferred cash settlement for subsidiaries acquired (b) 1,667 1,667 – –

 8,022 4,466 – –

(a) The bills exchange and bank overdraft are provided by various banks. Interest rates include both fixed and floating arrangements. 
The interest rates on fixed rate borrowings are at 5.5% per annum representing the weighted average contract rate in place at year-
end. The interest rates on floating borrowings are set on a daily basis at 0.90% per annum above the bank’s cost of funds for 
borrowings in the particular currency. Borrowings include Australian dollar, US dollar, Euro dollars, Japanese yen, Hong Kong dollar 
and New Zealand dollar denominated amounts. The ANZ bank overdraft is secured by a first ranking fixed and floating registered 
charge over all the assets and undertakings of Thebe International Pty Ltd and Breville Pty Ltd and is guaranteed by Housewares 
International Limited. The USA facilities are secured by a first priority security interest over the assets of Metro/Thebe, Inc. in favour 
of Union Bank of California. The bank bills payable are secured by the inventory and receivables of Metro/Thebe, Inc.

(b) At balance date, the company had a deferred cash settlement representing the remaining instalment of redeemable preference 
shares in Thebe International Pty Ltd as part consideration for the acquisition of the Breville Group of companies. Two instalments of 
the preference shares were redeemed on 6 December 2002 and 6 December 2003. This remaining instalment will be redeemed 
on 6 December 2004. These preference shares earn a dividend calculated with reference to the ANZ three year swap rate.
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 17: Provisions (current)

Employee benefits 29 4,441 4,096 – –

Warranty and faulty goods ^ (a) 2,272 – – –

Total current provisions 6,713 4,096 – –

Movements in provisions

(a) Warranty and faulty goods
Carrying amount at beginning of the financial year ^ 2,908 – – –

Additional provision 5,536 – – –

Amounts utilised during the year (6,172) – – –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 2,272 – – –

^ The provision for warranty and faulty goods was included  
in other categories in the prior year statement of financial 
position. They have been reclassified separately as a 
provision for warranty and faulty goods in the current year.

Note 18: Payables (non-current)

Deferred cash settlement for businesses acquired 15(d) – 465 – –

Total current payables – 465 – –

Note 19: Interest Bearing Liabilities (non-current)

Borrowings secured by a fixed and floating charge
Bills of exchange (a) 62,400 49,028 – –

Lease liability – finance lease 26 – 33 – –

Unsecured
Deferred cash settlement for subsidiaries acquired 16(b) – 1,667 – –

 62,400 50,728 – –

(a) The bills of exchange are provided by ANZ Bank and the 
interest rate is set at rollover periods at the bank bill 
buying rate. The bills of exchange are secured by a first 
ranking fixed and floating registered charge over all the 
assets and undertakings of Thebe International Pty Ltd 
and Breville Pty Ltd and is guaranteed by Housewares 
International Limited. These facilities are subject to 
annual review.

Note 20: Provisions (non-current)

Employee benefits 29(a) 771 1,002 – –

 771 1,002 – –
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 21: Contributed Equity

(a) Issued and paid up capital

Ordinary shares 118,044 111,086 118,044 111,086

Total contributed entity 118,044 111,086 118,044 111,086

(b) Movements in issued shares for the period

 Note 30 June 2004 30 June 2003

  Number of  Number of 
  Shares $’000 Shares $’000

Beginning of the year  114,167,909 111,086 110,887,228 105,759

Issued during the year

– dividend reinvestment plan 4 1,115,389 2,575 1,693,210 3,037

– placement agreements (i) 1,449,630 3,624 780,800 1,507

– less transaction costs  – (36) – (15)

– exercise of options (ii) 589,334 795 806,671 798

End of the year  117,322,262 118,044 114,167,909 111,086

(i) 780,800 ordinary shares were issued on 2 October 2002 under a Placement Agreement (2003: 1,449,630 ordinary shares were 
issued on 30 September 2003). The value placed on the issue is $1.93 per share (2003: $2.50 per share). These shares rank 
equally with existing ordinary shares.

(ii) During the financial year, 589,334 options were exercised resulting in the issue of ordinary shares. The value placed on the issue is 
$1.35 per share. Details are provided in note 29(e).

(c) Options over ordinary shares

Employee share scheme

During the financial year, 300,000 options were issued over ordinary shares, exercisable in thirds over a three year period commencing 
from the first anniversary from the date of issue and with an issue term of 5 years. The options had an average exercise price of $2.02. 
Details are provided in note 29(d).

At the end of the year there were 2,840,332 (2003: 3,421,000) unissued ordinary shares in respect of which options were outstanding.

(d) Terms and conditions of contributed equity

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to participate in the proceeds 
from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held.

Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the company.
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 22: Reserves

Asset revaluation reserve (a) 3,999 3,999 – –

Foreign currency translation reserve (b) (3,235) (3,033) – –

Total reserves 764 966 – –

(a) Asset Revaluation Reserve

(i) Nature and purpose of reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the value of non-current assets. The reserve can only 
be used to pay dividends in limited circumstances.

(ii) Movement in reserve

There were no increments or decrements in the asset revaluation reserve during the financial years ended 30 June 2003 and  
30 June 2004.

(b) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

(i) Nature and purpose of reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 
of self-sustaining foreign operations.

  Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(ii) Movement in reserve

Balance at beginning of year (3,033) 1,442 – –

Exchange fluctuations arising on translation  
of foreign controlled entities (202) (4,475) – –

Balance at end of year (3,235) (3,033) – –
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 23: Retained profits

Balance at beginning of the year 29,811 15,801 123 –

Net profit attributable to members  
of Housewares International Limited 22,858 20,945 12,683 6,941

Adjustment arising from the adoption  
of revised accounting standard:

– AASB 1028 “Employee Benefits” – (117) – –

–  AASB 1044 “Provisions, Contingent  
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” – 3,327 – 3,327

Total available for appropriation 52,669 39,956 12,806 10,268

Dividends paid or reinvested 4 (12,731) (10,145) (12,731) (10,145)

Balance at end of the year 39,938 29,811 75 123

Retained profits are expected to be utilised as follows:

– Proposed dividend declared 4, 34 4,106 4,567

– Retained 35,832 25,244

Note 24. Earnings per share

   Consolidated

   30 June  30 June 
   2004 2003

 Cents per share

Basic earnings per share   19.70 18.55

Diluted earnings per share   19.20 18.36

 $’000

Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share:

Net Profit   22,858 20,945

 Number of ordinary 
 shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation  
of basic earnings per share   116,014,928 112,887,593

Effect of dilutive securities – Share options   3,063,582 1,179,809

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation  
of diluted earnings per share   119,078,510 114,067,402

Conversion, call, subscription or issue after 30 June 2004

No issue of ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares occurred after balance date but prior to the completion of the financial statements.
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 25: Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the 
Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items 
in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash on hand 7,203 11,322 – –

Bank overdraft 16 (569) (5) – –

 6,634 11,317 – –

(b)  Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating  
Activities to Operating Profit After Income Tax

Operating profit after income tax 22,858 20,945 12,683 6,941

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 5,271 4,519 – –

Net loss on sale of plant and equipment 109 435 – –

Foreign exchange loss – (1,476) – –

Share of joint venture partnerships (profits) (99) (12) – –

Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects  
from purchase of businesses:
(Increase)/decrease in:

Accounts receivable (6,476) (2,369) – –

Dividends receivable – – – –

Inventory (103) (7,721) – –

Prepayments and other assets 1,804 158 – –

Future income tax benefit (1,107) (646) – –

(Decrease)/increase in:

Provision for diminution in value of inventories (983) 385 – –

Provision for employee benefits 243 364 – –

Provision for doubtful debts (475) 419 – –

Provision for warranty & faulty goods (620) – – –

Trade creditors 27 3,844 – –

Income tax payment (453) 1,877 (6) 17

Net cash from operating activities 19,996 20,722 12,677 6,958
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  Note Consolidated

   30 June  30 June 
   2004 2003 
   $’000 $’000

Note 25: Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows continued

(c) Businesses acquired

On 26 September 2003, the consolidated entity purchased certain assets  
and liabilities of the Maximum Cleaning business from SABCO Australia Limited.  
The components of the acquisition cost were:

Consideration

– cash paid for purchase of business   17,160 –

– payables related to purchase of business   163 –

Consideration paid or payable   17,323 –

Net Assets acquired

– inventories   4,798 –

– plant and equipment   248 –

– trade creditors   (455) –

– fair value of net tangible assets acquired   4,591 –

– brand names acquired 14(b)  6,700 –

– goodwill arising on acquisition 14(a)  6,032 –

   17,323 –

(d) Businesses acquired

Deferred settlement current at beginning of financial year   838 552

Deferred settlement non-current at beginning of financial year   465 –

   1,303 552

add recognition of additional goodwill 14(a) – 1,675

less cash paid during financial year   (838) (924)

   465 1,303

Represented by
Deferred settlement current at end of financial year 15 465 838

Deferred settlement non-current at end of financial year 18 – 465
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   Consolidated

  Facility Drawn Unused 
  $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 25: Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows continued

(e) Financing facilities available

The consolidated entity has access to the following financial facilities with  
a number of financial institutions:

2004

Australia and New Zealand (in $AUD)
Overdraft facility  1,000 2 998

Bills of exchange facility  75,800 62,400 13,400

Trade finance and foreign currency overdrafts  53,555 21,970 31,585

Other facilities  7,195 1,288 5,907

Business transactions facility  14,648 14,648 –

  152,198 100,308 51,890

United States of America (in $USD)
Working capital / documentary credit  8,835 4,469 4,366

2003

Australia and New Zealand (in $AUD)
Overdraft facility  1,000 1 999

Bills of exchange facility  60,000 49,028 10,972

Trade finance and foreign currency overdrafts  53,461 21,847 31,614

Other facilities  7,195 1,288 5,907

Business transactions facility  13,189 13,189 –

  134,845 85,353 49,492

United States of America (in $USD)
Working capital / documentary credit  8,852 2,692 6,160

 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 26: Commitments

(a)  Capital expenditure contracted for is payable as follows

– Not later than one year – – – –

(b)  Finance lease expenditure contracted for is payable as follows

– Not later than one year – 5 – –

– Later than one year but not later than five years – 29 – –

 – 34 – –

Future finance charges – (1) – –

Net finance lease liability 19 – 33 – –
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 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 26: Commitments continued

Finance leases are entered into as a means of funding the 
acquisition of some motor vehicles. Rental payments are 
fixed. The leases have purchase options that are 
exercisable at agreed residual values.

(c)  Operating lease expenditure contracted for is payable  
as follows:

– Not later than one year 8,110 8,010 – –

– Later than one year but not later than five years 24,535 25,870 – –

– Later than five years 10,749 9,878 – –

 43,394 43,758 – –

Operating leases are entered into mainly as a means of acquiring access to commercial property and storage facilities. Operating 
leases are also entered into as a means of acquiring access to the use of minor items of plant and equipment. Rental payments are 
generally fixed; however certain property leases contain a rental inflation escalation clause, an agreed rental percentage increase 
clause, a market rental review clause, or a mix of these clauses over the term of the operating lease.

Contingent rentals are determined with reference to known existing rental payments and known rental increases during the existing 
term of each operating lease.

No purchase options exist in relation to operating leases and no operating lease contains restrictions on financing or other leasing 
activities. Certain property leases contain renewal option clauses.

Note 27: Contingent Liabilities

Parent Entity

The parent company has guaranteed under the terms of an ASIC Class Order any deficiency of funds if Thebe International Pty Ltd, 
Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holdings Pty Ltd are wound up. No such deficiency currently exists.

Consolidated Entity

Contingent liabilities exist for compensation for termination without cause under service agreements with executive directors of the 
Company and certain officers of the consolidated entity. The compensation for termination without cause is equal to the total of 
amounts that would have been payable under the agreement during the balance of the term of the agreement.

Contingent liabilities exist for compensation for restrictive covenants under service agreements with executive directors of the Company 
and certain officers of the consolidated entity upon expiration or termination of these agreements.

Indemnity agreements have been entered into with executive directors of the Company and with certain officers of the consolidated 
entity in respect of expenses and liabilities they incur in their official capacities. No monetary limit applies to these agreements and no 
known obligations have emerged as a result of these agreements.

A contingent liability exists with regard to an uninsurable risk in the United States of America as our operations in California are situated 
in an identified flood zone. No known losses have been incurred as a result of this uninsurable risk.

In accordance with the Limited Partnership Agreement for Anglo Canadian Housewares, HWI Canada has granted a put option to the 
joint venture partner (“partner”) that can be exercised during the period of three months commencing on 1 January 2007. If the partner 
exercises the put option, HWI Canada must purchase the partner’s partnership interest for the put option price on the completion date. 
Consequently, a contingent liability exists that will only be confirmed by the exercising of this put option in the future, and which is 
outside the control of the consolidated entity. It is impracticable at this time to make an estimate of the potential financial effects, as the  
put option price is dependent on future financial data.
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  30 June 2004 30 June 2003

 Foreign Average Foreign Average 
 Currency Contract Currency Contract 
 Amount rate Amount rate 
 $’000  $’000

Note 28: Foreign Currency Exposure

Summary of foreign exchange contracts

Amounts to be settled in Australian dollars

US dollar 37,002 0.7166 60,251 0.6085

Euro dollar 300 0.5760 1,850 0.5698

Amounts to be settled in New Zealand dollars

US dollars 1,550 0.6175 5,200 0.5494

Summary of foreign exchange put option contracts

Amounts to be settled in Australian dollars

US dollar 24,500 0.6763 52,373 0.5969

Euro dollar – – – –

Amounts to be settled in New Zealand dollars

US dollars 5,550 0.6000 6,000 0.5450

 Note Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003

Note 29: Employee Benefits

The number of full-time equivalents employed as at 30 June are: 593 520 – –

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Employee Benefits

The aggregate employee benefit liability is comprised of:

Provisions (current) 17 4,441 4,096 – –

Provisions (non-current) 20 771 1,002 – –

 5,212 5,098 – –
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(b) Senior Executive Option Plan

An option plan exists where executive directors, executives and certain members of staff of the consolidated entity are issued with options 
over the ordinary shares of Housewares International Limited. The options, issued for nil consideration, are issued in accordance with 
performance guidelines established by the directors of Housewares International Limited. The options are issued for a term of five years 
and are exercisable in equal tranches on the first three anniversaries of the date of issue. The options cannot be transferred and will not 
be quoted on the ASX.

Options granted under the Senior Executive Option Plan

 Note 30 June 2004 30 June 2003

  Number of Weighted Number of Weighted 
  options average options average 
   exercise  exercise 
   price  price

Balance at beginning of year 29(c) 3,421,000 1.6218 1,706,671 0.9863

– granted 29(d) 300,000 2.0250 2,551,000 1.8500

– lapsed  (291,334) 1.1705 (30,000) 1.8500

– exercised 29(e) (589,334) 1.3481 (806,671) 0.9904

Balance at end of year 29(f) 2,840,332 1.7675 3,421,000 1.6218

Exercisable at end of year  634,333 1.7386 66,667 1.0000

(c) Options held by employees as at 1 July 2003

At 1 July 2003, employees held 3,421,000 options at a weighted average exercise price of $0.9863.

      Weighted  
      Average 
 Number  Grant Vesting Expiry Exercise 
 of Options Note  Date  Date Date Price

 33,333  14 May 99 13 May 02 13 May 04 1.0000

 33,334  14 May 99 13 May 02 13 May 04 1.0000

 166,666 (i) 6 Dec 01 6 Dec 03 6 Dec 06 0.9500

 166,667 (i) 6 Dec 01 6 Dec 04 6 Dec 06 0.9500

 250,000  6 Dec 01 6 Dec 03 6 Dec 06 1.0022

 250,000  6 Dec 01 6 Dec 04 6 Dec 06 1.0022

 757,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 757,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 04 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 757,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 05 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 83,333 (ii) 13 Jun 03 13 Jun 04 13 Jun 08 1.8500

 83,333 (ii) 13 Jun 03 13 Jun 05 13 Jun 08 1.8500

 83,334 (ii) 13 Jun 03 13 Jun 06 13 Jun 08 1.8500

 3,421,000     1.6218

(i) These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX on the business 
day immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $1.15.

(ii) These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX on the business 
day immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $2.22.
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(d) Options granted during the financial years ended 

30 June 2003

During the year, 2,551,000 options were issued at a weighted average exercise price of $1.85.

2,271,000 options were granted on 31 July 2002 at an exercise price of $1.85, vesting in three equal tranches on 31 July 2003, 2004 
and 2005. The options expire on 31 July 2007.

250,000 options were granted on 13 June 2003 at an exercise price of $1.85, vesting in three equal tranches on 13 June 2004, 2005 
and 2006. The options expire on 13 June 2008.

30 June 2004

During the year, 300,000 options were issued at a weighted average exercise price of $2.025

150,000 options were granted on 1 July 2003 at an exercise price of $1.76, vesting in three equal tranches on 14 March 2004, 
14 March 2005 and 14 March 2006. These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the shares traded  
on the ASX on the business day immediately preceding the proposed exercise of the options is at least $2.11. The options expire on 
14 March 2008.

150,000 options were granted on 15 April 2004 at an exercise price of $2.29, vesting in three equal tranches on 15 April 2005, 15 April 
2006 and 15 April 2007. These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the shares traded on the ASX on the 
business day immediately preceding the proposed exercise of the options is at least $2.75. The options expire on 15 April 2009.

(e) Options exercised during the reporting period

The following table summarises information about options exercised by employees during the year ended 30 June 2003:

     Weighted Proceeds Number  Fair value 
 Number Grant Vesting Expiry  Ave Ex from shares of shares Issue of shares 
 of options  Date  Date Date  price issued issued Date issued

 390,004 14 May 99 13 May 00 13 May 04 1.0000 390,004 390,004 25 Sep 02 1.95

 166,667 6 Dec 01 6 Dec 02 6 Dec 06 0.9500 158,334 166,667 6 Dec 02 1.89

 250,000 6 Dec 01 6 Dec 02 6 Dec 06 1.0022 250,550 250,000 6 Dec 02 1.89

 806,671    0.9904 798,888 806,671

The following table summarises information about options exercised by employees during the year ended 30 June 2004:

     Weighted Proceeds Number  Fair value 
 Number Grant Vesting Expiry  Ave Ex from shares of shares Issue of shares 
 of options  Date  Date Date  price issued issued Date issued

 138,000 31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 1.8500 255,300 138,000 29 Aug 03 2.39

 15,000 31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 1.8500 27,750 15,000 2 Oct 03 2.54

 10,000 31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 1.8500 18,500 10,000 5 Nov 03 2.55

 30,000 31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 1.8500 55,500 30,000 4 Dec 03 2.60

 166,667 6 Dec 01 6 Dec 03 6 Dec 06 0.9500 158,334 166,667 31 Dec 03 2.62

 166,667 6 Dec 01 6 Dec 03 6 Dec 06 1.0022 167,034 166,667 31 Dec 03 2.54

 10,000 31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 1.8500 18,500 10,000 17 Feb 04 2.31

 3,000 31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 1.8500 5,550 3,000 3 May 04 2.26

 50,000 01 Jul 03 14 Mar 04 14 Mar 08 1.7600 88,000 50,000 7 Jun 04 2.28

 589,334    1.3481 794,468 589,334

Fair value of shares issued during the reporting period is estimated to be the market price of shares of Housewares International Ltd on 
the ASX as at close of trading on their respective issue dates.



  61  

Housewares International Limited

Note 29: Employee Benefits continued

(f) Options held by employees as at 30 June 2004

At 30 June 2004, employees held 2,840,332 options at a weighted average exercise price of $1.7675.

      Weighted  
      Average 
 Number  Grant Vesting Expiry Exercise 
 of Options Note  Date  Date Date Price

 551,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 83,333 (ii) 13 Jun 03 13 Jun 04 13 Jun 08 1.8500

 728,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 04 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 166,667 (i) 6 Dec 01 6 Dec 04 6 Dec 06 0.9500

 166,666  6 Dec 01 6 Dec 04 6 Dec 06 1.0022

 50,000 (iii) 1 Jul 03 14 Mar 05 14 Jul 08 1.7600

 50,000 (iv) 15 Apr 04 15 Apr 05 15 Apr 09 2.2900

 83,333 (ii) 13 Jun 03 13 Jun 05 13 Jun 08 1.8500

 728,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 05 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 50,000 (iii) 1 Jul 03 14 Mar 06 14 Jul 08 1.7600

 50,000 (iv) 15 Apr 04 15 Apr 06 15 Apr 09 2.2900

 83,333 (ii) 13 Jun 03 13 Jun 06 13 Jun 08 1.8500

 50,000 (iv) 15 Apr 04 15 Apr 07 15 Apr 09 2.2900

 2,840,332     1.7675

(i) These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX on the business 
day immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $1.15.

(ii) These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX on the business 
day immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $2.22.

(iii) These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX on the business 
day immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $2.11.

(iv) These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX on the business 
day immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $2.75.

(g) Fair values of options

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using a binomial or Black Scholes option-pricing model with the following 
weighted average assumptions used for the following grants:

Grant Date: 6 Dec 01 31 July 02 13 June 03 1 July 03 15 April 04

Average of 1st, 2nd & 3rd tranches:

Dividend yield 8.70% 5.91% 5.91% 5.20% 5.20%

Expected volatility 45.0% 33.0% 33.0% 32.0% 32.0%

Historical volatility 45.0% 33.0% 33.0% 32.0% 32.0%

Risk-free interest rate 5.36% 5.34% 4.27% 4.60% 5.17%

Expected life of option 2 years 2 years 2 years 2 years 2 years

 (Black Scholes) (Binomial) (Binomial) (Binomial) (Binomial)

The dividend yield reflects the assumption that the current dividend payout will continue with no anticipated increases. The expected life 
of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility 
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.
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Note 29: Employee Benefits continued

(g) Fair values of options continued

The resulting weighted average fair values per option for those options vesting after 1 July 2002 are:

      Weighted  
      Average 
 Number  Grant Vesting Expiry Exercise 
 of Options   Date  Date Date Price

 500,000  6 Dec 01 6 Dec 02 6 Dec 06 0.0779

 750,000  6 Dec 01 6 Dec 02 6 Dec 06 0.0751

 2,271,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 0.3233

 250,000  13 Jun 03 13 Jun 04 13 Jun 08 0.3367

 150,000  1 Jul 03 14 Mar 04 14 Mar 08 0.2767

 150,000  15 Apr 04 15 Apr 05 15 Apr 09 0.3667

Currently, these fair values are not recognised as expenses in the financial statements. However, should these granted options be 
expensed, they would be amortised over the vesting periods resulting in an increase in employee benefits expense of $323,740 for the 
2004 financial year (2003: $439,761). Note that no adjustments to these amounts have been made to reflect estimated or actual 
forfeitures (ie., options that do not vest).

Note 30: Director and Executive Disclosures

(a) Details of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

(i) Specified directors

Frank Jones Non-executive chairman (Appointed chairman 25 September 2003)

John McConnell Non-executive director

Peter Morgan Non-executive director

Steven Klein Non-executive director (Appointed 26 September 2003)

Mark Kirkby Managing director

Joseph Hersch Executive director

Clive Little Non-executive chairman (Retired 25 September 2003)

Phillip Ramsay Executive director (Resigned 26 September 2003)

(i) Specified executives

Danny Kin Chief Operating Officer – Metro

Beng Liu Chief Information Officer – Metro

Viola Cheung Managing Director – Hong Kong

Laurelle Jackson CFO / Company Secretary

Paul Milburn Chief Operating Officer – Breville

(b) Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

(i) Remuneration Policy

Remuneration of directors and senior executives of the Company is established by the remuneration committee. Remuneration is 
determined as part of an annual performance review, which includes performance evaluation with regard to comparable remuneration 
and independent advice. For executive directors and officers, remuneration packages generally comprise a salary, a motor vehicle and 
superannuation. Some executives are also provided with longer-term incentives through the Senior Executive Option Plan, which acts 
to align the executives’ actions with the interests of shareholders. Some executives are also entitled to performance-based bonuses. 
Non-executive directors are not entitled to performance based bonuses, options, or retirement benefits.
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(b) Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives continued

(ii) Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

 Primary Post Employment Equity Other Total

Includes  Salary Cash Non Super- Retirement Options Termination 
  & fees bonus monetary annuation benefits  & accrued 
    benefits    entitlements

Specified Directors
F Jones 2004 71,250 – – 6,413 – – – 77,663 
 2003 42,499 – – 3,825 – – – 46,324

M Kirkby 2004 405,652 – 14,409 68,348 – 7,164 – 495,573 
 2003 362,173 50,000 13,046 54,326 – 16,471 – 496,016

J Hersch 2004 352,356 – 40,568 52,853 – 54,334 – 500,111 
 2003 354,947 – 38,886 53,242 – 18,132 – 465,207

S Klein  2004 36,787 – – – – – – 36,787 
(refer 30 (h))

J McConnell 2004 48,750 – – 4,388 – – – 53,138 
 2003 42,499 – – 3,825 – – – 46,324

P Morgan 2004 48,750 – – 4,388 – – – 53,138 
 2003 42,499 – – 3,825 – – – 46,324

C Little 2004 20,000 – – 1,800 – – – 21,800 
 2003 75,000 – – 6,750 – – – 81,750

P Ramsay 2004 131,016 – 11,102 19,652 – – 645,619 807,389 
 2003 352,391 – 12,821 52,859 – – – 418,071

Total Remuneration: Specified Directors 
 2004 1,114,561 – 66,079 157,842 – 61,498 645,619 2,045,599 
 2003* 1,380,602 50,000 74,153 252,532 – 34,603 521,977 2,313,867

Specified Executives

D Kin 2004 230,444 – 25,295 9,218 – – – 264,957 
 2003 259,734 27,711 31,433 10,389 – – – 329,267

B Liu 2004 204,997 86,768 26,425 8,200 – – – 326,390 
 2003 223,601 27,711 43,664 8,946 – – – 303,922

V Cheung 2004 382,508 73,043 15,559 31,192 – 9,476 – 511,778 
 2003 443,715 92,700 – 34,260 – 15,181 – 585,856

L Jackson 2004 125,356 15,000 18,397 13,208 – 6,317 – 178,278 
 2003 99,419 15,000 12,137 9,899 – 10,120 – 146,575

P Milburn 2004 160,681 – 45,816 14,460 – 9,476 – 230,433

Total Remuneration: Specified Executives 
 2004 1,103,986 174,811 131,492 76,278 – 25,269 – 1,511,836 
 2003* 1,284,486 246,255 129,787 70,244 – 25,301 – 1,756,073

* Group totals in respect of the financial year ended 2003 do not necessarily equal the sums of amounts disclosed for 2003 for individuals specified 
in 2004, as different individuals were specified in 2003.
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Note 30: Director and Executive Disclosures continued

(c) Remuneration options: Granted and vested during the year
During the financial year no options were granted as equity compensation benefits to the specified directors and specified executives. 
The following options previously granted vested during the financial year.

 Vested Number

Specified Directors
M Kirkby 166,667

J Hersch 250,000

Specified Executives
V Cheung 30,000

L Jackson 20,000

P Milburn 30,000

Total 496,667

(d) Shares issued on exercise of remuneration options
 Shares 
 Issued Paid Unpaid  
 Number $ per share $ per share

Specified Directors
M Kirkby 166,667 0.9500 –

J Hersch 166,667 1.0022 –

Specified Executives
L Jackson 20,000 1.8500 –

P Milburn 30,000 1.8500 –

Total 383,334

(e) Option holdings of specified directors and specified executives
 Balance  Granted as  Net Balance at Vested at 30 June 2004
 at 1 July Remuner- Options Change 30 June  Not
 2003 ation Exercised Other# 2004 Total  exercisable Exercisable

Specified Directors
F Jones – – – – – – – –

M Kirkby 333,333 – (166,667) – 166,666 – – –

J Hersch 583,333 – (166,667) – 416,666 83,333 – 83,333

S Klein – – – – – – – –

J McConnell – – – – – – – –

P Morgan – – – – – – – –

C Little – – – – – – – –

P Ramsay – – – – – – – –

Specified Executives
D Kin – – – – – – – –

B Liu – – – – – – – –

V Cheung 90,000 – – – 90,000 30,000 – 30,000

L Jackson 60,000 – (20,000) – 40,000 – – –

P Milburn 90,000 – (30,000) – 60,000 – – –

Total 1,156,666 – (383,334) – 773,332 113,333 – 113,333

# All equity transactions with specified directors and specified executives other than those arising from the exercise of remuneration options have 
been entered into under the term and conditions no more favourable than those the entity would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.
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Note 30: Director and Executive Disclosures continued

(f) Shareholdings of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

Ordinary Shares held in Housewares International Limited (number)

 Balance at  Granted as On Exercise Net Change Balance at 
 1 July 2003  Remuneration  of Options Other 30 June 2004

Specified Directors

F Jones 64,977 – – 3,134 68,111

M Kirkby 177,083 – 166,667 503 344,253

J Hersch 1,726,625 – 166,667 – 1,893,292

S Klein N/A – – 96,487 96,487 (Appointed 26 September 2003)

J McConnell 56,407 – – 1,516 57,923

P Morgan 109,355 – – 1,751 111,106

C Little 43,319 – – (43,319) N/A (Retired 25 September 2003)

P Ramsay 596,046 – – (596,046) N/A (Resigned 26 September 2003)

Specified Executives

D Kin – – – – –

B Liu – – – – –

V Cheung – – – – –

L Jackson – – 20,000 – 20,000

P Milburn – – 30,000 26,000 56,000

Total 2,773,812 – 383,334 (509,974) 2,647,172

During the year the specified directors and specified executives acquired shares through participation in the Dividend Reinvestment 
Plan offered to all shareholders.

(g) Loans to specified directors and specified executives

(i) Details of aggregates of loans to specified directors and specified executives are as follows:

 Balance  Balance  
 at beginning  at end   Interest  Interest  Number in  
 of period of period Repaid charged not charged group

      30 June 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  2004

Specified directors 2004 825 650 (500) 80 – 2 
 2003 500 825 – 110 – 3

Specified executives 2004 – 93 – 6 – 2 
 2003 – – – – – –

Total directors and 
specified executives 2004 825 743 (500) 86 – 4 
 2003 500 825 – 110 – 3
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Note 30: Director and Executive Disclosures continued

(g) Loans to specified directors and specified executives continued

(ii) Details of individuals with loans above $100,000 in the reporting period are as follows

      Highest  
 Balance at Balance at   Interest  Interest  owing in 
 1 July 2003 30 June 2004 Repaid charged not charged year

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Specified Directors

M Kirkby 158 317 – 30 – 317

J Hersch 167 333 – 30 – 333

P Ramsay 500 – (500) – – 500

Terms and conditions of loans

Housewares International Limited has provided loans to the above to fund the exercise of options to acquire shares in the company.  
The loans were issued in accordance with the terms of the Housewares International Senior Executive Option Plan such that interest 
on the loan equals the dividends and other distributions payable from time to time on the company shares acquired with the loan.

(h) Other transactions and balances with specified directors and specified executives

Services

Mr S Klein was appointed as a non-executive director of Housewares International Limited on 26 September 2003. Mr Klein is a 
partner of the legal firm Arnold Bloch Leibler, and his fees are paid to Arnold Bloch Leibler. Accordingly these fees are subject to GST. 
The amounts shown below are GST exclusive.

Legal services were provided by Arnold Bloch Leibler to subsidiaries of Housewares International Limited during the financial year.  
The fees paid for these services are at arm’s length.

There have been no other transactions concerning specified directors and specified executives during the financial year.

Amounts recognised at the reporting date in relation to other transaction and balances with specified directors

   Consolidated

    30 June 2004 
    $’000

Assets & liabilities
Current assets

Legal services associated with the acquisition of the SABCO business recognised as part of  
consideration paid and consequently recognised as part of goodwill on acquisition of business 215

Total assets    215

Revenues & expenses

Expenses

Employee expenses (directors fees) (37)

Other expenses from ordinary activities (418)

Total expenses    (455)
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Note 31: Related Party Disclosures

(a) Ultimate controlling entity

The ultimate controlling entity of the consolidated entity in Australia is Housewares International Limited.

(b) Wholly owned group transactions

During the financial period, loans were advanced and repayments received on inter-company accounts with related parties in the 
wholly owned group. These transactions were undertaken on commercial terms and conditions.

The amounts due and receivable are set out in the respective notes to the financial statements.

The ownership interests in related parties in the wholly owned group are set out in Note 12.

(c) Other related party transactions

HWI Canada Inc. (a member of the wholly owned group) has provided a loan to Anglo Canadian Housewares L.P. (Joint Venture 
Partnership) for Canadian Dollar $1,000,000 (2003: $1,000,000). No interest has been charged, giving rise to no interest income.
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Note 32: Financial Instruments continued

(b) Foreign Exchange

The following table summarises by currency the Australian dollar value of forward foreign exchange contracts and put option 
agreements (refer Note 28). Foreign currency amounts are translated at rates current at the reporting date. The ‘buy’ amounts represent 
the Australian dollar equivalent of commitments to purchase foreign currencies. Contracts to buy foreign currency are entered into from 
time to time to offset purchases so as to maintain a desired hedge position.

Currency  Average Exchange Rate Buy

 30 June 30 June  30 June 30 June 
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
   $’000 $’000

United States dollars
12 months or less 0.6886 0.6031 99,626 186,752

Euro dollars

12 months or less 0.5760 0.5698 521 3,247

Total   100,147 189,999

(c) Credit Risk Exposures

Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties failed to perform as contracted.

The credit risk on financial assets, excluding investments, of the consolidated entity which have been recognised on the Statement  
of Financial Position, is the carrying amount, net of any provision for doubtful debts.

The consolidated entity minimises concentration of credit risk by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers.  
The consolidated entity is not materially exposed to any individual overseas country or individual customer.

Forward foreign exchange agreements are subject to credit risk in relation to the relevant counterparties, which are large banks. The 
maximum credit risk exposure on forward foreign exchange agreements is the full amount of the foreign currency the consolidated  
entity pays when settlement occurs, should the counterparty fail to pay the amount which it committed to pay the consolidated entity.

(d) Net Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Recognised financial instruments

The carrying amounts and estimated net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities held at balance date are not materially 
different. The net fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability is the amount at which the asset could be exchanged, or liability 
settled in a current transaction between willing parties after allowing for transaction costs.

Unrecognised financial instruments

Interest rate swap agreements: The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined as the difference in present value of the 
future interest cash flows.

Options over ordinary shares: The fair value of options over ordinary shares is determined using the Black-Scholes or Binomial  
option-pricing model.
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Note 33: Auditor’s Remuneration

Amounts received or due and receivable from the entity and any other entity in the consolidated entity:

  Consolidated Parent

 30 June  30 June  30 June  30 June  
 2004 2003 2004 2003 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Ernst & Young Australia & affiliates

– an audit or review of the financial report 292,187 287,427 55,000 55,000

– other services

 – tax compliance 141,068 45,045 – –

 – tax related 49,763 38,978 – –

 – tax consolidation 45,500 – – –

 – international accounting standards related 37,535 – – –

 – corporate governance related 5,830 – – –

 – due diligence 54,650 – – –

 – assurance related – 69,206 – –

Auditors other than Ernst & Young Australia & affiliates

– an audit or review of the financial report – 492 – –

– other services

 – valuation of options – 6,000 – –

 626,533 447,148 55,000 55,000

Note 34: Significant Events after year-end

Subsequent to 30 June 2004, the directors have declared a fully-franked final dividend of 3.5 cents per share (2003: 4.0 cents per 
share). In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy no liability is recognised at 30 June 2004.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the year, which significantly affected or may affect the operations of 
the consolidated entity.

Notes to the Financial Report continued

for the year ended 30 June 2004
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Note 35: Impact of adopting AASB equivalents to IASB standards

Housewares International Limited has commenced transitioning its accounting policies and financial reporting from current Australian 
Standards (Australian GAAP) to Australian equivalents of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board. The company has allocated internal resources and engaged expert advice to perform diagnostics and 
conduct impact assessments to isolate key areas that will be impacted by the transition to IFRS. As a result of these procedures, 
Housewares International Limited has graded impact areas as high, medium, or low, and has established an IFRS steering committee 
to oversee each of the areas in order of priority. As the consolidated entity has a 30 June year end, priority has been given to 
considering the preparation of an opening balance sheet in accordance with AASB equivalents to IFRS as at 1 July 2004. This will form 
the basis of accounting for Australian equivalents of IFRS in the future, and is required when the consolidated entity prepares its first  
fully IFRS compliant financial report for the year ended 30 June 2006.

The key areas where accounting policies will change and may have an impact on the financial report of Housewares International 
Limited are summarised below. The summary should not be taken as an exhaustive list of all the differences between Australian GAAP 
and IFRS. Accordingly, there can be no assurances that the consolidated financial performance and financial position as disclosed in 
this financial report would not be significantly different if determined in accordance with IFRS.

The currently identified key potential effects of the conversion to IFRS on the consolidated entity are as follows:

• Recognition of certain assets and liabilities under IFRS that were not recognised under Australian GAAP, will result in adjustments  
to opening retained earnings (unless they relate to acquired intangible assets);

• Internally generated intangible assets will not be recognised and intangible assets will only be revalued if there is an active market. 
This may require revaluations of intangible assets recorded in prior periods to be reversed on adoption to IFRS;

• Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives will be tested for impairment annually, and will not be amortised;

• Impairments of assets will be determined on a discounted basis, with strict tests for determining whether the value of goodwill and 
cash-generating operations have been impaired;

• To the extent not already recognised, financial instruments must be recognised on the statement of financial position and all 
derivatives and most financial assets will be carried at fair value;

• Income tax will be calculated based on the “balance sheet” approach, which may result in more deferred tax assets and liabilities 
being recognised and, as tax effects follow the underlying transaction, some tax effects may be recognised in equity;

• The consolidated entity has the ability to transfer its foreign currency translation reserve to retained profits;

• Equity-based compensation in the form of shares and options will be recognised as expenses in the period during which the 
employee provides related services; and

• Changes in accounting policies will be recognised by restating comparatives rather than making current year adjustments with  
note disclosure of prior year effects.

At this stage, due to the short timeframe between finalisation of the Australian Equivalents to IFRS and the date of reporting, the 
consolidated entity has not been able to reliably quantify the future impact on the financial performance and financial position of the 
adoption of IFRS, including system upgrades and other implementation costs which may be incurred. The actual impact will also 
depend on the particular circumstances prevailing on adoption in the reporting period commencing 1 July 2005.
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In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Housewares International Limited, we state that:

1. In the opinion of the directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes of the company and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2004 and of their 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001: and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

2. In the opinion of the directors, as at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the 
Closed Group identified in note 12 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, by 
virtue of the deed of cross guarantee dated 4 November 1999.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 
 
 
 

Frank Jones

Chairman

 
 
 
 

Mark Kirkby

Director

Melbourne

25 August 2004

Directors’ Declaration
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Scope

The financial report and directors’ responsibility

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of cash 
flows, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for Housewares International Limited 
(the company) and the consolidated entity, for the year ended 30 June 2004. The consolidated entity comprises both 
the company and the entities it controlled during that year.

The directors of the company are responsible for preparing a financial report that gives a true and fair view of the financial 
position and performance of the company and the consolidated entity, and that complies with Accounting Standards in 
Australia, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting 
policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the 
company. Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards in order to provide reasonable 
assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by 
factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the 
availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material 
misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with Accounting Standards in Australia, and other mandatory financial 
reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated 
entity’s financial position, and of their performance as represented by the results of their operations and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

• examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
report, and

• assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the 
nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

We performed procedures to assess whether the substance of business transactions was accurately reflected in the 
financial report. These and our other procedures did not include consideration or judgement of the appropriateness or 
reasonableness of the business plans or strategies adopted by the directors and management of the company.

Independence

We are independent of the company, and have met the independence requirements of Australian professional ethical 
pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001. In addition to our audit of the financial report, we were engaged to 
undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The provision of these services has not 
impaired our independence.

Independent audit report
to the members of Housewares International Limited

Liability limited by the Accountants Scheme,  
approved under the Professional Standards Act 1994 (NSW).
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Independent audit report continued

to the members of Housewares International Limited

Audit opinion

In our opinion, the financial report of Housewares International Limited is in accordance with:

(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Housewares International Limited and the consolidated entity 

at 30 June 2004 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia.

 
 
 
 

Ernst & Young

 
 
 
 

Mary Waldron

Partner

Melbourne

25 August 2004
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Shareholders Information
substantial shareholders as at 25 August 2004

Substantial shareholders as at 25 August 2004

The following information is extracted from the Company’s Register of Substantial Shareholders.

 Number of Percentage of  
Name Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares

S. Lew Custodians Pty Limited (a) 33,157,111 28.52

Perpetual Trustees Australia Limited 16,157,282 13.90

Commonwealth Bank 6,601,641 5.68

Perennial Investment Partners Limited 5,908,593 5.08

(a) The interests of S. Lew Custodians Pty Ltd include a deemed relevant interest in the 26,903,207 shares held by Premier Investments Ltd.

Distribution of Shareholdings as at 25 August 2004

Size of holding Ordinary shareholders

1 to 1,000 372

1,001 to 5,000 1470

5,001 to 10,000 791

10,001 to 100,000 619

100,001 and over 41

Total shareholders 3293

Number of ordinary shareholders with less than marketable parcel 65

Voting Rights

All ordinary shareholders by Housewares International limited carry one vote per share without restriction.

Twenty Largest Shareholders as at 25 August 2004

 Number of Percentage of  
Name Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares

Premier Investments Ltd 26,903,207 23.14

RBC Global Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited (pipooled Account) 8,036,083 6.91

National Nominees Limited 7,774,664 6.69

Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 7,240,704 6.23

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 5,957,560 5.12

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited (CFS Future Leaders Fund Account) 5,919,679 5.09

RBC Global Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited (PIIC Account) 4,809,474 4.14

Mrs Barbara Mary O’Brien 2,249,474 1.93

Berne No 132 Nominees Pty Ltd (357351 Account) 1,840,800 1.58

M F Custodians Ltd 1,699,775 1.46

Nofusa Pty Limited 1,559,958 1.34

Queensland Investment Corporation 1,399,651 1.2

Lew Family Investments Ltd 1,238,850 1.07

IOOF Investment Management Limited 1,231,755 1.06

S L Nominees Pty Ltd 1,035,219 0.89

ANZ Nominees Limited 949,227 0.82

Ms Barbara Mary O’Brien 902,058 0.78

Government Superannuation Office (State Super Fund Account) 832,404 0.72

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Ltd 711,127 0.61

Lew Family Investments Pty Ltd 600,000 0.52

Total 82,891,669 71.3
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Corporate Directory

Directors

Frank Jones 
Chairman

John McConnell 
Non-Executive Director

Peter Morgan 
Non-Executive Director

Steven Klein 
Non-Executive Director

Mark Kirkby 
Managing Director

Joseph Hersch 
Executive Director

Company Secretary

Laurelle Jackson

Registered Office

461 Plummer Street 
Port Melbourne Victoria 3207 
Telephone (03) 8698 2800

Share Registers

Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd 
Yarra Falls 
452 Johnston Street 
Abbotsford Victoria 3067

Enquiries within Australia: 1300 850 505 
Enquiries outside Australia: 613 9611 5710 
Website: www.computershare.com

Auditors 

Ernst & Young 
120 Collins Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Solicitors

Arnold Bloch Leibler 
333 Collins Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Stock Exchange Listings

Housewares International shares are quoted  
on the Australian Stock Exchange.

Websites

www.housewares.com.au 
www.breville.com.au
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